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Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme described in this Prospectus (the “Programme”), each of Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance S.a r.l. & Cie S.C.S.,
LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd, LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. and LafargeHolcim Ltd, subject to compliance with all relevant laws,
regulations and directives, may from time to time issue Euro Medium Term Notes (the “Notes”) guaranteed by LafargeHolcim Ltd (the “Guarantor” or the “Company”) in the case of Notes
issued by Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance S.a r.l. & Cie S.C.S., LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd or LafargeHolcim Sterling
Finance (Netherlands) B.V. The maximum aggregate nominal amount of Notes from time to time outstanding will not at any time exceed €10,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies).
Application has been made to the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the “CSSF”) in its capacity as competent authority under the Luxembourg Act dated 10 July 2005 relating
to prospectuses for securities as amended, for the approval of this Prospectus for the purposes of Directive 2003/71/EC as amended or superseded, to the extent that such amendments have been
implemented in the relevant Member State of the European Economic Area (the “Prospectus Directive™). Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued
under the Programme for the period of 12 months from the date of this Prospectus to be admitted to the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Official List”) and admitted to
trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (the “Market”) except for Notes issued by LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd (“LHHF"). The Market is a regulated market
for the purposes of the Directive 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council on markets in financial instruments. By approving this Prospectus, the CSSF assumes no responsibility
as to the economic or financial soundness of the Notes or the quality and solvency of the Obligors (as defined below). Application has also been made to SIX Exchange Regulation AG (“SIX
Exchange Regulation”) to register this Prospectus as an “issuance programme” for the listing of bonds on the SIX Swiss Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules of the SIX Swiss
Exchange. The relevant Final Terms (as defined herein) in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or the SIX
Swiss Exchange.

Any Notes issued by LHHF will only be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange and this Prospectus does not comprise a prospectus or a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive
in respect of Notes issued by LHHF.

The CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed information contained in this Prospectus relating to LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd or in connection with Notes listed on the SIX
Swiss Exchange.

The CSSF has approved the information contained in this Prospectus relating to Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance S.a r.l. & Cie S.C.S., LafargeHolcim Finance
US LLC, LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. and LafargeHolcim Ltd. The CSSF assumes no responsibility for the economic and financial soundness of the transactions
contemplated by this Prospectus or the quality or solvency of the Issuers in accordance with Article 7(7) of the Prospectus Act 2005.

Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance S.ar.l. & Cie S.C.S., LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd, LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. and LafargeHolcim Ltd
may issue Notes in bearer form, in bearer form exchangeable for registered notes, or in registered form. LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC may only issue Notes in registered form.

Each Series (as defined herein) of Notes in bearer form will be represented on issue by a temporary global note in bearer form (each a “Temporary Global Note) or a permanent Global Note
in bearer form (each a “Permanent Global Note™). If the Global Notes are stated in the applicable Final Terms to be issued in new global note (“NGN™) form, the Global Notes will be delivered
on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a common safekeeper (the “Common Safekeeper”) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear™) and Clearstream Banking S.A.
(“Clearstream, Luxembourg”).

Notes in registered form will be represented by registered certificates (each a “Certificate™), one Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder’s entire holding of Registered Notes of
one Series. Registered Notes issued in global form will be represented by registered global certificates (“Global Certificates”). If a Global Certificate is held under the New Safekeeping Structure
(the “NSS”), the Global Certificate will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Global
Notes which are not issued in NGN form (“Classic Global Notes” or “CGNs”) and Global Certificates which are not held under the NSS may (or in the case of Notes listed on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange will) be deposited on the issue date of the relevant Tranche with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream Luxembourg (the “Common Depositary”).

Notes issued by LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC will initially be represented by a temporary Global Certificate (each a “Temporary Global Certificate™), without coupons. Beneficial interests
in each Temporary Global Certificate may be exchanged for beneficial interests in a permanent Global Certificate (each a “Permanent Global Certificate”), without coupons after the expiration
of the period ending 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche (the “Distribution Compliance Period”) upon certification that the beneficial owner of such Temporary Global Certificate
is not a “U.S. person” as such term is used in Regulation S under the United States Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) or upon certification that such beneficial owner is a U.S. person
who purchased its interest in the Notes in a transaction exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The provisions governing the exchange of interests in Global Notes for
other Global Notes and definitive Notes are described in “Overview of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form”.

LafargeHolcim Ltd and the Programme have been rated BBB by S&P Global Ratings Europe Ltd (“S&P™) and Baa2 by Moody’s Deutschland GmbH (“Moody’s”). S&P and Moody’s are
established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (as amended, the “CRA Regulation™). Further information relating to the registration of rating agencies
under the CRA Regulation can be found on the website of the European Securities and Markets Authority. Tranches of Notes to be issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where
a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to the Programme. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, the applicable rating(s) will be specified in
the relevant Final Terms. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to supervision, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating
agency.

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed “Risk Factors™ in this Prospectus. The Prospectus and all documents incorporated by reference herein
will be published in electronic form on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).
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This Prospectus is a base prospectus which comprises five base prospectuses in respect of Holcim Finance
(Luxembourg) S.A. (“HFL"), Holcim US Finance S.ar.l. & Cie S.C.S. (“SCSL"), LafargeHolcim Finance US
LLC (“LHFUS™), LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. (“LHSF”) and LafargeHolcim Ltd for
the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive. This Prospectus contains information with regard to
HFL, SCSL, LHFUS, LHHF, LHSF and LafargeHolcim Ltd (each an “Obligor” and together the “Obligors™)
and the Guarantor and its consolidated subsidiaries taken as a whole (together, the “Group” or
“LafargeHolcim”) which, according to the particular nature of each Obligor and the Guarantor and the Notes,
is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position,
profits and losses and prospects of the Relevant Issuer (as defined below).

The Guarantor, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief the
information contained in the Prospectus is true and accurate in all material respects, and that the Prospectus is
not misleading and that there are no other facts the omission of which would in the context of the issue of Notes
make any statement herein, whether of fact or opinion, misleading in any material respect. The Guarantor
accepts responsibility for the Prospectus and the Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes under the
Programme.

Each of HFL (in respect of itself) and the Guarantor, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that to the
best of its knowledge and belief the information contained in the HFL Prospectus regarding HFL, the Guarantor,
the Group and the Notes, which is material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and accurate in all
material respects, that the HFL Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts the omission of
which would in the context of the issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact or opinion,
misleading in any material respect. Each of HFL and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the HFL
Prospectus and the Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes for which HFL is the Relevant Issuer
accordingly. The HFL Prospectus comprises this Prospectus with the exception of the information contained in
the sections entitled “Holcim US Finance S.a rl. & Cie S.C.S.”, “LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC”,
“LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd”, “LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.” and paragraphs
(1) to (5) and (11) to (13) in the section entitled “General Information” to the extent that it relates to SCSL,
LHFUS, LHHF and LHSF.

Each of SCSL (in respect of itself) and the Guarantor, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that to
the best of its knowledge and belief the information contained in the SCSL Prospectus regarding SCSL, the
Guarantor, the Group and the Notes, which is material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and
accurate in all material respects, that the SCSL Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts the
omission of which would in the context of the issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact or
opinion, misleading in any material respect.

Each of SCSL and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the SCSL Prospectus and the Final Terms relating
to each Tranche of Notes for which SCSL is the Relevant Issuer accordingly. The SCSL Prospectus comprises
this Prospectus with the exception of the information contained in the sections entitled “Holcim Finance
(Luxembourg) S.A.”, “LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC”, “LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd”,
“LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.” and paragraphs (1) to (5) and (11) to (13) in the section
entitled “General Information” to the extent that it relates to HFL, LHFUS, LHHF and LHSF.

Each of LHFUS (in respect of itself) and the Guarantor, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that to
the best of its knowledge and belief the information contained in the LHFUS Prospectus regarding LHFUS, the
Guarantor, the Group and the Notes, which is material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and
accurate in all material respects, that the LHFUS Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts
the omission of which would in the context of the issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact
or opinion, misleading in any material respect. Each of LHFUS and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the
LHFUS Prospectus and the Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes for which LHFUS is the Relevant
Issuer accordingly. The LHFUS Prospectus comprises this Prospectus with the exception of the information
contained in the sections entitled “Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim US Finance S.ar.l. & Cie



S.C.S.”, “LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd”, “LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V.” and
paragraphs (1) to (5) and (11) to (13) in the section entitled “General Information” to the extent that it relates
to HFL, SCSL, LHHF and LHSF.

Each of LHSF (in respect of itself) and the Guarantor, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that to
the best of its knowledge and belief the information contained in the LHSF Prospectus regarding LHSF, the
Guarantor, the Group and the Notes, which is material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and
accurate in all material respects, that the LHSF Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts
the omission of which would in the context of the issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact
or opinion, misleading in any material respect. Each of LHSF and the Guarantor accepts responsibility for the
LHSF Prospectus and the Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes for which LHSF is the Relevant Issuer
accordingly. The LHSF Prospectus comprises this Prospectus with the exception of the information contained
in the sections entitled “Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.”, “Holcim US Finance S.a r.l. & Cie S.C.S.”,
“LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC” “LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd” and paragraphs (1) to (5) and (11)
to (13) in the section entitled “General Information” to the extent that it relates to HFL, SCSL, LHHF and
LHFUS.

LafargeHolcim Ltd, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that to the best of its knowledge and belief
the information contained in this Prospectus regarding the Obligors, the Guarantor, the Group and the Notes,
which is material in the context of the issue of the Notes, is true and accurate in all material respects, that this
Prospectus is not misleading and that there are no other facts the omission of which would in the context of the
issue of the Notes make any statement herein, whether of fact or opinion, misleading in any material respect.
LafargeHolcim Ltd accepts responsibility for the Prospectus and the Final Terms relating to each Tranche of
Notes for which LafargeHolcim Ltd is the Relevant Issuer accordingly.

In this Prospectus, references to the “Issuer” are to either Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US
Finance S.a rl. & Cie S.C.S., LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd,
LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. or LafargeHolcim Ltd, as the case may be, as the issuer or
proposed issuer of Notes under the Programme as specified in the relevant Final Terms and references to the
“Relevant Issuer” shall be construed accordingly and references to the “Arranger” are to Citigroup Global
Markets Limited. BNP Paribas, Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Citigroup Global Markets Limited,
NatWest Markets N.V., NatWest Markets Plc, UBS AG London Branch and UniCredit Bank AG are the dealers
under the Programme (together the “Dealers” and each a “Dealer”).

This Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European
Economic Area (“EEA”) which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”)
will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member
State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly, any person making or
intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of Notes which are the subject of an offering
contemplated in this Prospectus as completed by final terms in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do
so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Relevant Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus
pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the
Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Relevant Issuer nor any Dealer have
authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which an obligation
arises for the Relevant Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer. The expression
“Prospectus Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended or superseded), and includes any relevant
implementing measure in the Relevant Member State.

This Prospectus is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are incorporated herein by reference (see
“Documents Incorporated by Reference” below).

MiFID Il PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET - The Final Terms in respect of any Notes
may include a legend entitled “MiFID Il Product Governance” which may outline the target market assessment
in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person
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subsequently offering, selling or recommending any such Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration
the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID
11") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of such Notes (by either adopting
or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels. A determination
will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules
under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the “MiFID Product Governance Rules”), any Dealer subscribing
for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor
any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

PRIIPS/ IMPORTANT - EEA RETAIL INVESTORS - If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes includes
a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors”, the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold
or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor
in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as
defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97
(as amended, the "IDD"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point
(10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive.
Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the
"PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors
in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to
any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained
in this Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or
representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by any of the Obligors or any of the Dealers
or the Arranger. Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under
any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of or any change in the
financial position of any of the Obligors since the date hereof or the date upon which this Prospectus has been
most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the
Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date
indicated in the document containing the same.

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted
by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required by the Obligors, the Dealers and the
Arranger to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. The Notes have not been and will not
be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) and include Notes in bearer
form that are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold
or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and
sales of Notes and on distribution of this Prospectus, see “Subscription and Sale” below. This Prospectus does
not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of any Obligor, the Arranger or the Dealers to subscribe
for, or purchase, any Notes.

Singapore SFA Product Classification: In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act
(Chapter 289) of Singapore (the “SFA”) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations
2018 of Singapore (the “CMP Regulations 2018”), unless otherwise specified before an offer of Notes, the
Issuer has determined, and hereby natifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that
the Notes are ‘prescribed capital markets products’ (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded
Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and
MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

The Arranger and the Dealers have not separately verified the information contained in this Prospectus. None
of the Dealers or the Arranger makes any representation, express or implied, or accepts any responsibility, with
respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information in this Prospectus. Neither this Prospectus
nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should



not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Obligors, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient
of this Prospectus or any other financial statements should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of
Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Prospectus and its purchase
of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger
undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of any of the Obligors during the life of the arrangements
contemplated by this Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information
coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger.

Certain financial and statistical information in this Prospectus has been subject to rounding adjustments.
Accordingly, the sum of certain data may not conform to the total. In addition, all financial information in this
Prospectus is qualified by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Consolidated Financial
Statements (see “Documents Incorporated by Reference” below).

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, references to “€”, “EUR”,
“Euro” and “euros” are to the single currency of those member states of the European Union participating in
the third stage of the European economic and monetary union from time to time as amended, references to
“U.S.$” or “USD” are to United States dollars, references to “GBP” and “Sterling” are to pounds sterling and
references to “CHF” are to Swiss francs.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, one or more relevant Dealers (in such capacity, the
“Stabilising Manager(s)”) (or any person acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) may over-allot Notes
or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which
might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or any person acting
on behalf of any Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on
or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the final terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche is
made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue
date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche. Any stabilisation
action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) or person(s) acting on behalf
of any Stabilising Manager(s) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

This Prospectus contains certain forward-looking statements. A forward-looking statement is a statement that
does not relate to historical facts and events. They are based on analyses or forecasts of future results and
estimates of amounts not yet determinable or foreseeable. These forward-looking statements are identified by
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the use of terms and phrases such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”,
“plan”, “predict”, “project”, “will” and similar terms and phrases, including references and assumptions. This
applies, in particular, to statements in this Prospectus containing information on future earning capacity, plans
and expectations regarding the Group’s business and management, its growth and profitability, and general

economic and regulatory conditions and other factors that affect it.

Forward-looking statements in this Prospectus are based on current estimates and assumptions that
LafargeHolcim makes to the best of its present knowledge. These forward-looking statements are subject to
risks, uncertainties and other factors which could cause actual results, including the Group’s financial condition
and results of operations, to differ materially from and be worse than results that have expressly or implicitly
been assumed or described in these forward-looking statements. The Group’s business is also subject to a
number of risks and uncertainties that could cause a forward-looking statement, estimate or prediction in this
Prospectus to become inaccurate. Accordingly, investors are strongly advised to read the following sections of
this Prospectus: “Risk Factors”, “Documents Incorporated by Reference”, “Overview of the Programme” and
“Business”. These sections include more detailed descriptions of factors that might have an impact on the
Group’s business and the markets in which it operates. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions,

future events described in this Prospectus may not occur.

In addition, none of the Issuers, the Guarantor or the Dealers assume any obligation, except as required by law,
to update any forward-looking statement or to conform these forward-looking statements to actual events or
developments.



BENCHMARKS REGULATION - Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to the
Euro Interbank Offered Rate (“EURIBOR”) or the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) which are
provided by the European Money Markets Institute (“EMMI”) and the ICE Benchmark Administration Limited
(“ICE”), respectively. As at the date of this Prospectus, ICE appears in the European Securities and Markets
Authority (“ESMA”)’s register of administrators under Article 36 of Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the
“Benchmark Regulation”) and EMMI does not appear in ESMA’s register of administrators under the
Benchmark Regulation. As far as each Issuer is aware, the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the
Benchmarks Regulation apply, such that EMMI is not currently required to obtain authorisation or registration.
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RISK FACTORS

The Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor believe(s) that the following factors, together with the section entitled
“Risk and control”” and notes 14.5 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements of LafargeHolcim for the
year ended 31 December 2018, each incorporated by reference in this Prospectus (on pages 66 to 82, 227 to
237 and 252 to 255, respectively of the 2018 Annual Report, see ““Documents incorporated by reference”), may
affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes and/or the Guarantee, as the case may be, issued under the
Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Relevant Issuer and/or
the Guarantor is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

Factors which the Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor believe(s) may be material for the purpose of assessing
the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor believe(s) that the factors described below represent the principal
risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the Relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor
may be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes and/or under the
Guarantee, as the case may be, for other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the Relevant
Issuer and/or the Guarantor based on information currently available to them or which they may not currently
be able to anticipate. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this
Prospectus (including any documents deemed to be incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views
prior to making any investment decision.

Risks Relating to the Group’s Business
Legal and compliance risks

Competition

The markets for cement, aggregates and other construction materials and services are very competitive.
Competition in these markets is largely based on price, but also increasingly on quality and service. On the
basis of data contained in the Global Cement Directory (2018), as at January 2018, the top four global cement
producers represented approximately 25 per cent. of global capacity (excluding China). Competition for the
Group in the cement industry varies from market to market, but on a global basis LafargeHolcim believes that
its major competitors are HeidelbergCement AG, CRH plc and Cemex S.A.B. de C.V. The Group also competes
with numerous small or local competitors. Competition, whether from established market participants or new
entrants, could cause the Group to lose market shares or reduce pricing, any one of which could have an adverse
effect on business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

The Group competes in each of its markets with domestic and foreign building materials suppliers, as well as
with importers of foreign products and with local and foreign construction service providers. Accordingly, the
profitability of the Group is generally dependent on the level of demand for such building materials and services
as a whole as well as the Group’s ability to maximise efficiencies and control operating costs. Prices in these
markets are subject to material changes in response to relatively minor fluctuations in supply and demand,
general economic conditions and other market conditions beyond the control of the Group. As a consequence,
LafargeHolcim may face price, margin or volume declines in the future, which could (if significant), have an
adverse effect on the Group’s results of operations. Risk of such declines are particularly acute in markets where
overcapacity and/or oversupply exists.



Competition regulation

In recent years, various competition regulators worldwide have imposed fines on cement, building materials
and building materials services companies for involvement in illegal cartel practices or other anticompetitive
practices.

The competition authorities in various regions have initiated competition law investigations against certain
members of the Group regarding alleged involvement in illicit agreements and anti-competitive practices. The
investigations and proceedings are at different stages and are ongoing (for the material cases, see also
“Business— Competition Proceedings”).

The Group cannot predict the outcome of the pending competition proceedings or investigations. A finding of
an infringement of competition law could adversely affect the Group in a variety of ways. For example, it could
result in: (i) the imposition of significant fines (the amount of any such fine could vary significantly from one
jurisdiction to the next, and depends on a variety of factors; it is typically based around the turnover generated
by the relevant company from sales of the product subject to the infringement); (ii) third parties (such as
customers, and in more limited cases, competitors) initiating civil litigation claiming damages caused by
anticompetitive practices; (iii) reputational damage to LafargeHolcim; (iv) restrictions on the Group's ability to
carry out acquisitions (in certain jurisdictions); (v) forced divestments; (vi) significant costs or changes in
business practices that may result in reduced revenues and/or margins; and/or (vii) potential debarment from
public tenders. These potential consequences could have a material adverse effect on the business, and the
results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

The Group has in place a code of business conduct including principles of fair competition and has a fair
competition compliance programme across the Group that aims to ensure no member of the Group infringes
applicable competition laws. The programme focuses heavily on training and the conduct of fair competition
reviews (in-depth assessments of risks based on interviews, document and email reviews). Fair competition
controls, along with those of other risk areas (bribery, sanctions, data privacy) were updated and included in
the revised minimum control standards for Group companies. Additionally, the Group manages all competition
investigations, information requests and enforcement cases through a central team of legal specialists.

Minority interests, minority participations and joint ventures

The Group conducts its business through subsidiaries. In some cases, minority shareholders hold significant
interests in such subsidiaries. Various disadvantages may result from the participation of minority shareholders
whose interests may not always be aligned with those of the Group. Minority interests may, among other things,
impede the ability of LafargeHolcim to implement organisational efficiencies, enforce its global transfer pricing
policy and its controls framework, including its full compliance program, and to transfer cash and assets from
one subsidiary to another in order to allocate assets in the most effective way.

In certain jurisdictions, members of the Group have entered into shareholders’ and/or joint venture agreements
with respect to the corresponding participation in such jurisdiction. Such contractual obligations may limit in
the future the freedom of action of the Group and/or may result, under certain circumstances, in financial
obligations of LafargeHolcim towards joint venture partners. Certain joint venture agreements may contain
“deadlock” provisions that may result in put and/or call options becoming exercisable in the event of
disagreements, rights of first refusal or the sale of the joint venture. The Group could be required to expend
significant sums to perform its obligations under these options. In addition, stable relationships with local joint
venture partners may be critical to the success of the operations of the Group in these jurisdictions. There can
be no assurance that relationships with joint venture partners will remain stable or that joint venture partners
will not be acquired by competitors of LafargeHolcim.

In certain of its operations, the Group has a significant but not always a controlling interest. Under the governing
documents for certain of these partnerships and corporations, certain key matters, such as the approval of



business plans and decisions as to the timing and amount of cash distributions, may require the consent of the
partners of LafargeHolcim or may be approved without the consent of the Group. These limitations could
constrain the Group’s ability to pursue its corporate objectives in the future.

Litigation risks

In the ordinary course of business, the Group is and may in the future become involved in lawsuits, claims,
investigations and proceedings, including product liability, ownership, commercial, environment, health and
safety, social security and tax claims.

In connection with acquisitions made by the Group in past years, the Group is or may become subject to various
demands or complaints, including those from minority shareholders.

In connection with disposals made in the past, the Group has provided customary warranties notably relating to
accounting, tax, employees, product quality, litigation, competition and environmental matters. The Group may
receive in the future notice of claims arising from said warranties.

For further information on proceedings in connection with alleged dealings in Syria, see “Business — Court,
Arbitral and Administrative Proceedings — Syria’ on page 102.

LafargeHolcim tracks all Group-relevant commercial litigation cases, and provides support to the relevant
operating companies in defense and dispute resolution. In addition, root cause analysis of disputes and
enforcement cases is taken into account in the continuous improvement cycle. Notwithstanding, any
proceedings where the Group is and may in the future become involved may have a material adverse effect on
the reputation of the Group. In addition, there can be no assurance that such proceedings will not have a material
adverse effect on the asset position, financial condition and results of operations of the Group (see also
“Business — Legal Proceedings™).

Compliance risks
The LafargeHolcim compliance programme covers several areas:

() Bribery, corruption, money laundering and fraud: anti-corruption activities centred on training,
management of third party risk through targeted due diligence and management of conflicts of interest.

(i)  Fair Competition: the programme focuses heavily on training and the conduct of fair competition
reviews as described in the “Competition regulation” risk above.

(iii)  Sanctions & Trade Restrictions: the Group’s requirements are set through the Group’s Sanctions
Compliance Directive, which is implemented through dedicated training, communications and screening
for potentially restricted transactions. In addition, there are procedures for the screening and continuous
monitoring of all suppliers and customers against worldwide sanctioned party and enforcement lists in
those exposed operations.

(iv)  DataPrivacy: data privacy and compliance with the European Union General Data Protection Regulation
is also supported with specific training, controls, monitoring and reporting systems.

Notwithstanding the preventive measures the Group takes to reduce compliance related risks, the risk that the
Group is found to have violated laws and regulations covering business conduct and unfair competition cannot
be excluded and its corresponding potential impacts (investigation costs, financial penalties, debarment, profit
disgorgement and reputational damage) cannot be underestimated.
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Sustainability risks

Environmental regulations

Building materials suppliers’ operations are subject to numerous national and supranational environmental,
health and safety laws, regulations, treaties and conventions (together with the other laws and regimes discussed
below), including those designed to control greenhouse gas emissions, the discharge of materials into the
environment and the use, handling and disposal of hazardous materials and substances, requiring removal and
clean-up of environmental contamination; establishing certification, licensing, noise, health and safety, taxation,
labour and training standards; or otherwise related to the protection of human health and the environment
(including in relation to asbestos and crystalline silica dust). Violations of existing environmental regulations
expose violators to substantial fines and sanctions and may require technical measures or investments to ensure
compliance with mandatory emission or immission limits. In some cases, violations may lead to the Group
being unable to produce and/or to market certain products. Environmental regulations currently in force may
be amended or modified or new environmental regulations may be adopted, further curtailing or regulating the
cement industry and related industries in the various jurisdictions in which the Group operates. LafargeHolcim
cannot predict the extent to which its future earnings may be affected by compliance with such new
environmental regulations.

Carbon dioxide emissions and climate change

Cement industry carbon dioxide (“C0O2”) emissions result mainly from the chemical process of producing
clinker and from the combustion of fossil fuels. Compared to other energy-intensive industrial activities, CO2
emissions per unit of financial added value for the cement industry is relatively high. Public concerns over
greenhouse gas emissions may lead to regulations to curb emissions which may significantly increase costs for
the cement and related industries. In the European Union, the cement industry is subject to a cap and trade
scheme on CO2 emissions, requiring cement producers to surrender emission allowances for the CO2 it has
emitted. Cement producers are allocated CO2 allowances corresponding to the CO2 intensity of their
production. Any remaining allowance surplus can be sold, and any shortage can be addressed, on the CO2
allowance market. Companies that fail to meet their obligation to surrender allowances are subject to significant
penalties. The quantity of allowances allocated to the cement industry is scheduled to decrease in the future,
and the cost of carbon allowances could materially increase the cost of clinker production in the European
Union (as well as in other European countries covered by the scheme — including Switzerland).

Similar cap and trade schemes (or carbon pricing schemes) have been implemented, among others, in Canada,
China (seven provinces) and New Zealand. The implementation of those systems in these and/or other
jurisdictions may lead to exposure to similar business risks as in the European Union.

The implementation of varied CO2 regulatory systems in different countries may affect international
competitiveness and could eventually lead to ineffective use of assets (including discontinuation of the use of
such assets) in regions with stringent CO2 emissions regulations. There can be no assurance that LafargeHolcim
will be able to meet its own CO2 emissions targets or comply with targets that external regulators may impose
upon the cement industry. Furthermore, additional, new and/or different regulations, such as the imposition of
lower limits than those currently contemplated or a ban on the use of coal or other traditional fossil fuels could
be enacted.

These new or additional regulations, including as a consequence of implementing the global agreement on the
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions reached at the 2015 United Nations Climate Change conference in Paris
(known as “COP 21”) could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial
condition of the Group or reputational damage. Large carbon emitters could also be subject to climate change
litigation resulting in compensation of alleged damages caused to society which may impact the financial
performance of the Group.
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Waste management and environmental remediation

Many of the Group’s current and former properties are or have been used for industrial purposes. LafargeHolcim
has arranged for and will continue to arrange for disposal of waste on its own premises, in its quarries and at
third-party disposal sites. Under certain environmental laws, liability for activities at contaminated sites,
including buildings and other facilities, is strict, and in some cases, joint and several. The Group may in the
future be subject to potentially material liabilities relating to the investigation and clean-up of contaminated
areas, including groundwater, at properties owned or formerly owned, operated or used by the Group, and to
claims alleging personal injury or damage to natural resources. There can be no assurance that the Group’s
current provisions will be sufficient to cover all potential future liabilities related to environmental
contamination. Changes in applicable law or regulation relating to waste management and environmental
remediation in jurisdictions in which the Group operates could lead to greater tax liabilities.

LafargeHolcim has been increasingly using alternative fuels and raw materials to reduce CO2 and other
emissions as well as fuel and raw material costs. Some of these alternative fuels are hazardous and require
LafargeHolcim to use special procedures to protect workers and the environment. When using hazardous waste
for this purpose, the above-mentioned risks of environmental liabilities or the health and safety liabilities
discussed below as well as reputational risk may arise if such procedures are not executed correctly.

Other regulations affecting mining operations

Access to the raw materials necessary for operations (such as limestone, aggregates and other key raw materials)
is essential to the sustainability and profitability of the Group’s operations and is a key consideration in the
Group’s investments. In addition to environmental regulations, the Group’s operations are subject to extensive
governmental regulations in the majority of countries in which the Group operates on matters such as permitting
and licensing requirements as well as reclamation and restoration of mining properties after mining is
completed. LafargeHolcim believes that it has obtained all material permits and licenses required to conduct its
present mining operations. However, the Group expects that it will need additional permits and renewals of
permits for future operations and to renew existing licences and permits. New site approval procedures generally
require preparation of geological surveys, and may also require endangered species studies and other studies to
assess the environmental impact of new sites. Compliance with these regulatory requirements is expensive and
requires an investment of substantial funds well before the Group knows whether a site’s operation will be
economically successful and often significantly lengthens the time needed to develop a new site. Additional
legal requirements could be adopted in the future that would render compliance still more burdensome.
Furthermore, obtaining or renewing required permits and licenses is sometimes delayed or prevented due to
community opposition and other factors beyond the Group’s control. LafargeHolcim could be adversely
affected if current provisions for reclamation and closure costs were determined to be insufficient at a later
stage, or if future costs associated with reclamation were to be significantly greater than its current estimates.
The Group cannot be sure that current or future mining regulation, and compliance with such regulation, will
not have an adverse effect on its business, or that it will be able to obtain or renew permits and licenses in the
future.

Health and safety

Cement production involves a number of health and safety risks. For example, the Group’s production facilities
require individuals to work with chemicals (including crystalline silica), equipment and other hazardous
materials (including hazardous alternative fuels) that could cause harm, injury or fatalities in the Group’s
operations. The Group continuously monitors its health and safety record and continues to implement safety
and health measures. Notwithstanding the preventive measures that the Group may take, there can be no
assurance that such measures will be effective in reducing the number of incidents and any such incidents may
impact the reputation or public perception of LafargeHolcim and could result in additional costs and fines,
which could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Financial risks

The Group’s ability to borrow from banks or in the capital markets may be materially adversely affected
by a financial crisis (in a particular geographic region, industry or economic sector) and/or by the
Group’s short-term and long-term credit ratings

The Group’s ability to borrow from banks or access the capital markets to meet the Group’s financial
requirements is dependent on market conditions. Financial crises in particular geographic regions, industries or
economic sectors have led, in the recent past, and could lead, in the future, to sharp declines in the currencies,
stock markets and other asset prices, which in turn threaten the affected financial systems and economies.

Any market slowdown may adversely impact the Group’s ability to borrow from banks or access the capital
markets and may significantly increase the costs of such borrowing. If sufficient sources of financing are not
available in the future for these or other reasons, the Group may be unable to meet its financial requirements,
which could materially and adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition.

In the course of business, LafargeHolcim uses external sources to finance a portion of its capital requirements.
The cost and availability of financing are generally dependent on short-term and long-term credit ratings.
Factors that are significant in the determination of the Group’s credit ratings or that otherwise could affect its
ability to raise short-term and long-term financing include (among others): level and volatility of earnings,
relative positions in the markets in which LafargeHolcim operates, its global and product diversification, risk
management policies and financial ratios such as net debt to Recurring EBITDA and cash flow from operations
to net debt. It is expected that credit rating agencies will focus, in particular, on the Group’s ability to generate
sufficient operating cash flows to cover the repayment of debt. Deterioration in any of the previously stated
factors or a combination of these factors may lead rating agencies to downgrade LafargeHolcim credit ratings,
thereby increasing the Group’s cost of obtaining financing or its access to bank financing and the capital
markets.

Currency translation and transactional risks

The Group operates internationally and a very high portion of its products are produced locally, with most sales
and costs incurred in the respective local currencies. The Group however faces foreign exchange risks arising
mostly from the translation of local financial statements for the consolidated financial statements. The Group
operates in around 80 countries worldwide and the vast majority of its net sales occur in currencies other than
the Swiss franc (its reporting currency). As a result, movements in exchange rates could have an influence on
the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Such translation into the Group’s reporting
currency Swiss francs leads to currency translation effects, which the Group does not actively hedge in the
financial markets. In addition, the statement of financial position is only partially hedged by debt in foreign
currencies and therefore a significant decrease in the aggregate value of such local currencies against the Swiss
franc may have a material effect on the Group’s shareholders’ equity.

Currency fluctuations can also result in the recognition of foreign exchange losses on transactions, which are
reflected in the Group’s consolidated statement of income. With regard to transaction-based foreign currency
exposures, the Group’s policy is to hedge material foreign currency exposures through derivative instruments.
The Group seeks to reduce the overall exposure by netting purchases and sales in each currency on a global
basis, where feasible, and then covers its net position in the market. These derivative instruments are generally
limited to forward contracts and the Group does not enter into foreign currency exchange contracts other than
for hedging purposes.

Each subsidiary is responsible for managing the foreign exchange positions arising as a result of commercial
and financial transactions performed in currencies other than its domestic currency with the support of the
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Corporate Finance and Treasury Department. Exposures are centralised and hedged with the Corporate Finance
and Treasury Department using foreign currency derivative instruments or hedged with local banks.

Interest rate risks

The Group is exposed to interest-rate risk through debt and cash. The Group’s interest rate exposure can be sub-
divided among the following risks:

Q) Price risk for fixed-rate financial assets and liabilities

. by contracting a fixed-rate liability, for example, the Group is exposed to an opportunity cost in
the event of a reduction in interest rates. Changes in interest rates impact the market value of
fixed-rate assets and liabilities, leaving the associated financial income or expense unchanged,;
and

(i) Cash flow risk for floating-rate assets and liabilities.

. changes in interest rates have little impact on the market value of floating-rate assets and
liabilities, but directly influence the future income or expense flows of the Group.

Any changes in interest rates could negatively impact the Group’s financial results. For the year ended 31
December 2018, a 1 percentage increase in interest rates would have resulted in an increase in the Group’s
borrowing cost of CHF 22 million (CHF 34 million for the year ended 31 December 2017) before tax on a post-
hedge basis, subject to certain assumptions. In accordance with its policy, the Group seeks to manage these two
types of risks with interest-rate swaps and forward rate agreements. The corporate finance and treasury
department manages the Group’s financing and interest rate risk in order to keep a balance between fixed rate
and floating rate exposure.

Counterparty risk for financial operations

The Group is exposed to credit risk in the event of default by a counterparty (mainly banks and other financial
institutions). The exposure to counterparty risks is limited by rigorously selecting the Group’s counterparties,
by regularly monitoring the ratings assigned to counterparties by credit rating agencies, and by taking into
account the nature and maturity of the Group’s exposed transactions, according to Group policies. Counterparty
limits are defined and regularly reviewed, however this may not prevent the Group from being significantly
impacted in the case of a systemic crisis.

Capital expenditure programme

The Group’s business production is capital intensive. The capital expenditure programmes of the Group
comprise both maintenance capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment to maintain production
capacity, and expansion capital expenditure to implement new growth projects. In response to changing market
conditions, LafargeHolcim may also undertake maintenance and expansion capital expenditure projects. There
can be no assurance that such projects will be completed on time or to budget. Factors that could result in
planned capital expenditure projects being delayed or cancelled include changes in economic conditions,
construction difficulties and cost overruns. In developed countries in particular, it can be difficult to obtain
permits for new installations and quarries, and extending the duration of existing permits may become more
challenging. Difficulties with permits could result in significant delays in future investments and growth or even
in the suspension of particular projects. Increased funding costs or greater difficulty in accessing financing to
satisfy the capital expenditure programme of the Group may have a material adverse effect on the business,
results of operations and financial condition.

14



Acquisition and disposal of businesses

As part of its strategy, the Group may make selective acquisitions and divestments to strengthen, develop or
streamline its existing business portfolio. Divestments can pose substantial challenges to the Group. The
divestment and separation process can affect business continuity and employee and business relationships (i.e.,
lenders and suppliers). In addition, the possibility of regulatory interference in a disposal process, as well as
delays, cannot be ruled out.

Disposals may result in the indemnification of unknown past liabilities as well as representation and warranties.
Moreover, the consideration received for a specific asset or business may be less than its actual value for the
Group, which could result in the recognition of losses in the period in which the sale occurs.

There may be challenges or delays in integrating and generating value from acquired businesses. The costs of
integration can be materially higher than budgeted and the Group may fail to realise synergies expected from
such acquisitions. The challenges presented by integrating new businesses can be even greater in emerging
markets as a result of risks not faced to the same extent in more mature markets, including certain political and
legal risks and cultural and linguistic difficulties.

Acquisitions can also result in the assumption of unexpected or greater than expected liabilities relating to the
acquired assets or businesses and the possibility that indemnification agreements with the sellers of such assets
may be difficult to enforce or insufficient to cover all potential liabilities, the possibility of regulatory
interference, the imposition and maintenance of regulatory controls, procedures and policies and the impairment
of relationships with employees and counterparties as a result of difficulties arising out of integration. Moreover,
the value of any business that the Group acquires or invests in may be less than the consideration the Group
will pay.

Investments in certain jurisdictions are regulated by, inter alia, foreign investment regulations. There can be no
assurance that the Group will be able to obtain or maintain all government approvals required in all jurisdictions
in which it makes investments.

Impairment risks

The cement and, to a lesser extent, the aggregates and the other construction materials businesses, are very
capital intensive. At each statement of financial position date, the Group will assess whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. For example, a detailed review of the asset portfolio, and specifically
the country risk, led to an impairment of CHF 3,831 million as at 31 December 2017, mainly affecting goodwill
and assets re-evaluated in the context of business combinations. The review of the portfolio did not lead to
significant impairment in 2018 (see Note 4.5 to the consolidated financial statements of LafargeHolcim for the
year ended 31 December 2018, which are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus). Where any indication
of an asset impairment exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount of an asset is established to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of such asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. The assessment of assets may
lead to other impairments in the future. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of income and may
therefore have a material effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

Group’s pension commitments and multi-employer pension plans

The Group has obligations under defined benefit pension plans, mainly in the United Kingdom, Switzerland
and North America. The Group’s funding obligations depend upon future asset performance, the level of interest
rates used to measure future liabilities, actuarial assumptions and experience, benefit plan changes, and
government regulations. Due to the large number of variables that determine pension funding requirements,
which are difficult to predict, as well as any legislative action, future cash funding requirements for the Group’s
pension plans and other post employment benefit plans could be significantly higher than the amounts estimated
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as at 31 December 2018. If so, these funding requirements could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
financial situation or results.

The Group participates in a number of union-sponsored multiemployer pension plans in the US. These plans
are subject to substantial deficits due to market conditions and business actions, plan trustee decisions, plan
failure, as well as actions and decisions of other contributing employers. The Group has essentially no control
on how these plans are managed. Therefore, material risk that substantial cash contributions could be required
in the future to satisfy any outstanding obligations under these plans exists. Moreover, satisfying the Group’s
obligations might have a material impact on the Group’s reported financial results. The financial condition of
these plans is not currently reported in the Group’s financial reports.

Tax risks

The Group is subject to multiple tax laws and various regulatory requirements, which affect its commercial,
financial and tax objectives. As the tax laws and regulations in effect in the various countries in which the Group
operates do not always provide clear or definitive guidelines, the Group’s structure, the conduct of its business
and the relevant tax regime are based on its interpretation of applicable tax laws and regulations. The Group
cannot guarantee that these interpretations will not be questioned or challenged by the tax authorities, or that
applicable laws and regulations in certain countries will not change, be interpreted differently or be applied
inconsistently. More generally, any violation of tax laws and regulations in the countries where the Group and
its subsidiaries are located or do business could lead to tax assessments or the payment of late fees, interest,
fines and penalties. This could have a negative impact on the Group’s effective tax rate, cash flow and results
of operations.

The Group’s tax filings for various periods will be subject to audit by tax authorities in most jurisdictions in
which the Group operates. In particular, such jurisdictions may have extended focus on issues related to the
taxation of multinational corporations. These audits may result in assessments of additional taxes, as well as
interest and/or penalties, and could affect the Group’s financial results. Due to the uncertainty associated with
tax matters, it is possible that at some future date, liabilities resulting from audits or litigations could vary
significantly from the Group’s provisions. Changes in tax laws, regulations, court rulings, related
interpretations, and tax accounting standards in countries in which the Group operates may adversely affect its
financial results.

Direct creditors of subsidiaries of the Guarantor will generally have superior claims to cash flows from
those subsidiaries

As a holding company, the Guarantor will depend upon cash flows received from its subsidiaries to meet its
payment obligations under the Notes. Since the creditors of any subsidiary of the Guarantor would generally
have a right to receive payment that is superior to the Guarantor’s right to receive payment from the assets of
that subsidiary, holders of the Notes will be effectively subordinated to creditors of those subsidiaries insofar
as cash flows from those subsidiaries are relevant to the Notes. The terms and conditions of the Notes do not
limit the amount of liabilities that Group subsidiaries may incur.

In addition, the Guarantor may not necessarily have access to the full amount of cash flows generated by its
operating subsidiaries. A number of its subsidiaries are located in countries that may impose regulations
restricting the payment of dividends outside the country through exchange control regulations. Furthermore,
the transfer of dividends and other income from Group subsidiaries may be limited by various credit or other
contractual arrangements and/or tax constraints, which could make such payments difficult or costly.
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External risks

Emerging markets risks

LafargeHolcim’s significant presence in emerging markets exposes the Group to risks that it does not face to
the same extent in more mature economies such as economic and political risks and risks associated with legal
systems being less certain than those in more mature economies. Emerging markets are exposed to greater
volatility in GDP, inflation, exchange rates, interest rates, oil prices and commodity prices than developed
markets, which may negatively affect the level of construction activity and the results of operations of the Group
in a given emerging market. Instability in an emerging market may also lead to restrictions on currency
movements, which may adversely affect the ability of emerging market operating subsidiaries of the Group to
pay dividends, and impose restrictions on imports of equipment.

Other potential risks presented by emerging markets include:

. disruption of LafargeHolcim’s operations due to civil disturbances and other actual and threatened
conflicts and acts of terrorism;

. nationalisation and expropriation of assets;
. price and exchange controls;
. differences between and unexpected changes in regulatory environments, including environmental,

health and safety, local planning, zoning and labour laws, rules and regulations;
. less certainty concerning legal rights and their enforcement;

. varying tax regimes, including with respect to the imposition of withholding taxes on remittances and
other payments by subsidiaries and joint ventures;

. fluctuations in currency exchange rates and restrictions on the repatriation of capital; and

. difficulties in attracting and retaining qualified management and employees, or reducing the size of the
workforce of the Group.

Developments relating to any of the risks described above in an emerging market in which LafargeHolcim has
a significant presence could result in lower profits and/or a loss in value of its assets. There can be no assurance
that the assets, business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group will not be materially
adversely affected through its exposure to emerging markets.

Political risks and risks arising from exceptional external incidents

LafargeHolcim operates in around 80 countries worldwide and is therefore exposed to potential turmoil and
political risks such as nationalisation, prohibition of capital transfer, terrorism, war and unrest. At a number of
locations, there are security risks resulting from internal political circumstances. For example, in the course of
2016, production at the Group’s plants in Nigeria was adversely affected by severe gas shortages in Nigeria
following a series of pipeline vandalism incidents. There may also be government intervention in production
control, such as the temporary decommissioning orders in China. In isolated cases, cement prices are subject to
government regulation.

Exceptional external incidents, such as natural disasters, climate hazards, earthquakes or pandemics, could
damage the Group’s property or result in business interruptions, any of which could also negatively impact
business performance.
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Cyclical nature of the construction industries

LafargeHolcim’s products and services are mainly used in the construction sector. Accordingly, in any
jurisdiction, demand for the Group’s products and services is dependent on the level of activity in the
construction sector in that jurisdiction. The construction industry tends to be cyclical, and depends on the level
of construction-related expenditures in the residential, commercial and infrastructure sectors. Political
instability or changes in government policy can also affect the construction industry. The industry is sensitive
to factors such as gross domestic product (“GDP”) growth, population growth, interest rates and inflation. An
economic downturn could have a negative impact on the level of activity in the construction sector, which in
turn could adversely affect LafargeHolcim’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Group operates in around 80 countries worldwide, and some markets or regions account for a significant
portion of the Group’s total sales. Although this broad geographic footprint might minimise exposure to cyclical
declines in an individual market, economic downturns in significant individual markets or on a regional or
global scale may have a material adverse effect on LafargeHolcim. Economic growth is not uniform across the
geographic regions in which the Group operates, and there can be no assurance that a weakening in economic
outlook will not affect the construction market globally or that negative economic conditions in one or more
regions will not affect construction markets in other regions. The results of operations and profitability of the
Group could be adversely affected by a continued or further downturn in construction activity on a global scale
or in a significant market in which it operates.

In response to unfavourable market conditions, LafargeHolcim may decide to close plants or operations and
may therefore incur significant exceptional costs in the relevant financial period and subsequent periods, even
if such closures are made in order to reduce recurring costs and investments in future years.

Risk relating to the use of substitutes for cement

Materials such as plastic, aluminium, ceramics, glass, wood and steel can be used in construction as a substitute
for cement. In addition, other existing construction techniques, such as the use of dry wall, as well as any new
construction techniques and modern materials, could decrease the demand for cement, ready-mix concrete and
mortars. In addition, new construction techniques and modern materials may be introduced in the future. The
use of substitutes for cement could cause a significant reduction in the demand and prices for the products of
the Group and may have an adverse effect on its results of operations and financial condition.

Seasonal nature of construction business

During the winter season in the northern hemisphere and the rainy season in tropical climates in Latin America,
southeast Asia or Africa, there is typically lower activity in the construction sector, especially where
meteorological conditions make large-scale construction projects difficult, resulting in lower demand for
building materials.

The Group expects to continue to experience a decrease in sales during the first and fourth quarters reflecting
the effect of the winter season in Europe and North America and an increase in sales in the second and third
quarters reflecting the effect of the summer season in these markets. This effect can be especially pronounced
during harsh or long winters. In addition, high levels of rainfall in tropical countries during the rainy season can
adversely affect operations during those periods.

If these adverse climatic conditions are unusually intense, occur unexpectedly or last longer than usual in major
geographic markets, especially during seasonal peak construction periods, this could have a material adverse
effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Group.
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Risks relating to energy

Risks associated with energy costs

Energy expenses account for a significant part of the production costs of the Group. Cement production in
particular requires a high level of energy consumption, especially for the kilning and grinding processes. The
principal elements of these energy costs are fuel expenses and electricity expenses (which include amongst
others, costs for coal, petroleum coke, natural gas and alternative fuels such as biomass). The results of
operations of the Group are therefore expected to be significantly affected by movements in energy prices.
Energy prices may vary significantly in the future, largely due to market forces and other factors beyond the
control of the Group, including, for example, changes in the regulatory regime applicable to energy prices in
some countries where LafargeHolcim operates. Moreover, in certain emerging markets, there is a risk that the
Group may see increases in electricity prices due to a lack of generation capacity and the effects of privatisation.
The Group may also, particularly in the case of coal, experience time lags between movements in the energy
prices and movements in production costs since the supply of a substantial proportion of energy resources is
secured pursuant to long-term purchase agreements or as some of the exposure is hedged. Similarly, the Group’s
production facilities could experience interruption in the supply of energy or fuels.

LafargeHolcim seeks to protect itself against the risk of energy price increases through (i) its ability to diversify
fuel sources, including the use of alternative fuels, (ii) its ability to fully or partially pass through cost increases
to customers, (iii) negotiating long-term supply contracts / on-site power generation projects to reduce volatility
and seize opportunities offered by renewable power prices and (iv) use of derivative instruments, mainly swaps
and options on exchange-traded or over-the-counter markets. LafargeHolcim seeks to reduce the proportion of
clinker used in the cement production process by using mineral components as substitutes as highest energy
intensity is generally experienced during the clinker binding phase.

Despite these measures, if high energy prices prevail over time or if the Group encounters increases or
significant fluctuations in energy costs, insufficient availability of cost-efficient alternative fuels or the violation
of supply agreements, this could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and profitability of
the Group.

Operational risks

The Group relies upon third parties for the performance of logistical services

The Group relies upon third party service providers for certain aspects of its business, particularly the transport
of its products to its customers. The Group’s ability to service its customers at a reasonable cost depends in
many cases upon its ability to negotiate reasonable terms with carriers including railroad, trucking and barge
companies. Due to the heavy weight of its products, the Group expects to incur substantial transportation costs.
To the extent that the Group’s third-party carriers increase their rates, including to reflect higher labour,
maintenance, fuel or other costs they may incur, the Group may be forced to pay such increased rates sooner
than it is able to pass on such increases to customers, if at all. Any material increases in the transportation costs
of LafargeHolcim that it is unable to fully pass on to customers could adversely affect its business, results of
operations and financial condition.

In addition, the costs of the Group relating to shipments by barges may be increased as a result of a shortage of
barges and logistical problems resulting from high demand. Any such occurrences could adversely affect the
business, results of operations and financial condition of the Group.

Risks of business interruption, production curtailment or loss of assets

Due to the high fixed-cost nature of the building material industry, interruptions in production capabilities at
any of the Group’s facilities may cause a significant decrease in productivity and results of operations during
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the affected period. The manufacturing processes of producers of building materials and related services are
dependent upon critical pieces of equipment such as cement kilns, crushers and grinders. On occasion, this
equipment may be out of service during periodic maintenance periods, strikes, unanticipated failures, accidents
or force majeure events. In addition, there is a risk that equipment or production facilities may be damaged or
destroyed by such events, any of which could have an adverse effect on LafargeHolcim’s results of operations
and financial condition.

Risks relating to availability of raw materials

The operations of the Group are dependent on the availability of certain raw materials at a reasonable cost, in
particular limestone and aggregates, which are used in the manufacture of its products. Accordingly, any
limitations on the ability of the Group to obtain the various raw materials it needs, for instance because an
existing supplier ceases operations or reduces or eliminates productions of by-products, could have an adverse
effect on its results of operations. In addition, LafargeHolcim may be unable to increase selling prices in
response to increases in raw material costs, which may result in a material adverse effect on its results of
operations.

Information technology and cyber risk

The Group is dependent on information technology and therefore is exposed to risks related to the unavailability
of critical systems and loss or manipulation of data resulting from computer viruses, cyber attacks, network
outages, natural disasters or human mistakes. An information or cybersecurity event could lead to financial loss,
reputational damage, safety or environmental impact.

Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes
issued under the Programme

Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in any Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, the
merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated by
reference in this Prospectus or any applicable supplement;

(i) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular
financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment will have on its
overall investment portfolio;

(iii)  have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the relevant
Notes, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential
investor’s currency;

(iv)  understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant
indices and financial markets; and

(v)  beable to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic,
interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as a way to reduce risk
or enhance yield with an understood, measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A
potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise
(either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing
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conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the
potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

Awide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which
contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of certain such features:

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the Relevant
Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above
the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Relevant Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate
on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an
effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at
a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments
available at that time.

Potential investors should also note that if Clean-Up Event is specified in the relevant Final Terms as applicable,
the Relevant Issuer in certain circumstances has the ability to exercise a “clean up” call in relation to the relevant
series of Notes. If the Relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any of their subsidiaries has/have in the aggregate
purchased or redeemed a series of Notes in aggregate principal amount equal to or in excess of 80 per cent. in
the principal amount of such series of Notes initially issued (which shall for this purpose include any further
Notes issued pursuant to Condition 13), the Relevant Issuer may then redeem or purchase (or procure the
purchase), at its option, all but not some only of the remaining outstanding Notes of that series at the Clean-Up
Redemption Price specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Relevant Issuer may elect to change from a fixed
rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Relevant Issuer’s ability to change the interest
rate will affect the secondary market and the market value of such Notes since the Relevant Issuer may be
expected to change the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Notes change
from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than
then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new
floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Notes change from a floating rate to
a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.

Discontinuation of Benchmarks on Floating Rate Notes

Reference rates and indices, including interest rate benchmarks, such as EURIBOR or LIBOR, which are used
to determine the amounts payable under financial instruments or the value of such financial instruments
(“Benchmarks™), have, in recent years, been the subject of political and regulatory scrutiny as to how they are
created and operated. This has resulted in regulatory reform and changes to existing Benchmarks, with further
changes anticipated. These reforms and changes may cause a Benchmark to perform differently than it has done
in the past or to be discontinued. Any change in the performance of a Benchmark or its discontinuation, could
have a material adverse effect on any Notes referencing or linked to such Benchmark.

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified as the manner in which the Rate of Interest in respect of Floating
Rate Notes is to be determined, the Conditions provide that the Rate of Interest shall be determined by reference
to the Relevant Screen Page (or its successor or replacement). In circumstances where such Original Reference
Rate is discontinued, neither the Relevant Screen Page, nor any successor or replacement may be available.
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Where the Relevant Screen Page is not available, and no successor or replacement for the Relevant Screen Page
is available, the Conditions provide for the Rate of Interest to be determined by the Calculation Agent by
reference to quotations from banks communicated to the Calculation Agent.

Where such quotations are not available (as may be the case if the relevant banks are not submitting rates for
the determination of such Original Reference Rate), the Rate of Interest may ultimately revert to the Rate of
Interest applicable as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date before the Original Reference Rate was
discontinued. Uncertainty as to the continuation of the Original Reference Rate, the availability of quotes from
reference banks, and the rate that would be applicable if the Original Reference Rate is discontinued may
adversely affect the value of, and return on, the Floating Rate Notes.

Benchmark Events include (amongst other events) permanent discontinuation of an Original Reference Rate. If
a Benchmark Event occurs, the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint and consult with an
Independent Adviser. The Issuer shall endeavour to consult with the Independent Adviser with a view to the
Issuer determining a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate to be used in place of the Original Reference Rate. The
use of any such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate to determine the Rate of Interest is likely to result in Notes
initially linked to or referencing the Original Reference Rate performing differently (which may include
payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than they would do if the Original Reference Rate were to continue to
apply in its current form.

Furthermore, if a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate for the Original Reference Rate is determined by the Issuer,
following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable
manner, the Conditions provide that the Issuer may vary the Conditions, as necessary to ensure the proper
operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate, without any requirement for consent or approval of the
Noteholders.

If a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate is determined by the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent
Adviser and acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, the Conditions also provide that an
Adjustment Spread will be determined by the Issuer and applied to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate.

The Adjustment Spread is (i) the spread, formula or methodology which is formally recommended in relation
to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body
(which may include a relevant central bank, supervisory authority or group of central banks/supervisory
authorities), (ii) if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate, the spread,
formula or methodology which the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in
good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, determines is customarily applied to the relevant Successor
Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce
an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original Reference Rate, or (iii) if the Issuer determines that no
such spread is customarily applied, the spread, formula or methodology which the Issuer, following consultation
with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, determines and
which is recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions
which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the
Alternative Rate, as the case may be.

Accordingly, the application of an Adjustment Spread may result in the Notes performing differently (which
may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than they would do if the Original Reference Rate were to
continue to apply in its current form.

The Issuer may be unable to appoint an Independent Adviser and may not be able to determine a Successor
Rate or Alternative Rate in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Notes.
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Where the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser in a timely manner, or the Issuer (in consultation
with the Independent Adviser) is unable to determine a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate before the next
Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest for the next succeeding Interest Period will be the Rate of
Interest applicable as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date before the occurrence of the Benchmark
Event, or, where the Benchmark Event occurs before the first Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest
will be the initial Rate of Interest.

Where the Issuer has been unable to appoint an Independent Adviser or, has failed, to determine a Successor
Rate or Alternative Rate in respect of any given Interest Period, it will continue to attempt to appoint an
Independent Adviser in a timely manner before the next succeeding Interest Determination Date and/or to
determine a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate to apply the next succeeding and any subsequent Interest
Periods, as necessary.

Applying the initial Rate of Interest, or the Rate of Interest applicable as at the last preceding Interest
Determination Date before the occurrence of the Benchmark Event is likely to result in Notes linked to or
referencing the relevant benchmark performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of
Interest) than they would do if the relevant benchmark were to continue to apply, or if a Successor Rate or
Alternative Rate could be determined.

If the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser or the Issuer (in consultation with the Independent
Adviser) fails to determine a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate for the life of the relevant Notes, the initial
Rate of Interest, or the Rate of Interest applicable as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date before
the occurrence of the Benchmark Event, will continue to apply to maturity. This will result in the Floating Rate
Notes, in effect, becoming fixed rate securities.

Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and return on, the Notes. See
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Interest and other Calculations — Benchmark discontinuation”.

Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium to their nominal amount tend to
fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing
securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared
to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

Risks related to Notes generally
Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:

The Group may incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future

The Group may incur substantial additional indebtedness, including in connection with capital expenditure
programmes and future acquisitions. The terms of the Notes will not limit the amount of indebtedness the Group
may incur. Any such incurrence of additional indebtedness could exacerbate the related risks that the Group
now faces or pose new risks not described in this Prospectus.

Modification, waivers and substitution

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider
matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders
including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a
manner contrary to the majority.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes also provide that the Obligors may, without the consent of Noteholders,
agree to (i) any modification of the Agency Agreement that is of a formal, minor or technical nature or which
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is made to correct a manifest error; (ii) any other modification, or any waiver or authorisation of any breach or
proposed breach of or any failure to comply with, the Agency Agreement that could not reasonably be expected
to be prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; or (iii) the substitution of another company that is the
Guarantor or subsidiary of the Guarantor as principal debtor under any Notes, Coupons and Talons in place of
an Issuer, in the circumstances described in Condition 11 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Proposed Amendment of Swiss Federal Withholding Tax Act

On 4 November 2015, the Swiss Federal Council announced a mandate to the Swiss Federal Finance
Department to institute a group of experts tasked with the preparation of a new proposal for a reform of the
Swiss withholding tax system. The new proposal is expected to include in respect of interest payments the
replacement of the existing debtor-based regime by a paying agent-based regime for Swiss withholding tax
similar to the one published on 17 December 2014 by the Swiss Federal Council and repealed on 24 June 2015
following the negative outcome of the legislative consultation with Swiss official and private bodies. Under
such a new paying agent-based regime, if enacted, a paying agent in Switzerland may be required to deduct
Swiss withholding tax on any payments or any securing of payments of interest in respect of a Note for the
benefit of the beneficial owner of the payment unless certain procedures are complied with to establish that the
owner of the Note is not an individual resident in Switzerland.

Risks in relation to Dutch Taxation

On 10 October 2017, the then new Dutch government released its coalition agreement (Regeerakkoord) 2017-
2021, which includes, among others, certain policy intentions for tax reform. On 23 February 2018, the Dutch
State Secretary for Finance published a letter with an annex containing further details on the government's
policy intentions against tax avoidance and tax evasion. One policy intention in particular may become relevant
in the context of the Dutch tax treatment of payments under the Notes issued by LHSF. Pursuant to the coalition
agreement, the Dutch government intends to introduce an "interest withholding tax" on interest paid to creditors
in low tax jurisdictions or non-cooperative jurisdictions or in situations of abuse, as of 2021. The coalition
agreement and the annex to the letter suggest that this interest withholding tax would apply to certain payments
made by a Dutch entity directly or indirectly to a group entity in a low tax or non-cooperative jurisdiction.
However, although unlikely, it cannot be ruled out completely that it will have a wider application and, as such,
it could potentially be applicable to payments under the Notes issued by LHSF. Many aspects of this policy
intention still remain unclear. However, if this policy intention would be implemented, and LHSF has or will
become obliged to pay additional amounts under these Notes, LHSF may redeem these Notes pursuant to its
option under Condition 6(c) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons), subject to the conditions described therein.

Change of law

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are governed by English law, and the Guarantee is governed by Swiss
law, both in effect as at the date of issue of the relevant Notes. No assurance can be given as to the impact of
any possible judicial decision or change to English law or to Swiss law or administrative practice or any change
in law (including taxation law) relating to the jurisdiction of the Noteholders after the date of issue of the
relevant Notes.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: definitive Notes

In relation to any issue of Notes which have a denomination consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination
plus a higher integral multiple of another smaller amount, it is possible that the Notes may be traded in the
clearing systems in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such
a case, should definitive Notes be required to be issued, Noteholders who hold Notes in the relevant clearing
system in amounts that are less than the minimum Specified Denomination will not receive a definitive Note in
respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of
Notes such that it holds an amount equal to one or more Specified Denominations.
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Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest
rate risk and credit risk:

The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does
develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that
will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This
is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, and are
designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment
requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited
secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely
adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Relevant Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain
risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a
currency or currency unit (the “Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. These include the
risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified
Currency or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the
Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s
Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the
Notes; (2) the Investor’s Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes; and (3) the Investor’s
Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could
adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than
expected, or no interest or principal.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely
affect the value of Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to an issue of Notes. The ratings may
not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above and
other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold
securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or
regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether
and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it; (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types
of borrowing; and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions
should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes
under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following sections of the following documents, which have previously been published or are published
simultaneously with this Prospectus and have been filed with the CSSF, are hereby incorporated by reference
in, and form part of, this Prospectus.

The tables below set out the relevant page references for the information incorporated herein by reference. The
information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list is considered as additional
information and is not required by the relevant schedules of the Commission Regulation (EC) 809/2004.

This Prospectus should be read and construed in conjunction with:

Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Ltd’s media release entitled “Strong start
of the year — acceleration of strategy confirmed” published on 15 May 2019 (the “Q1 2019 Results Media
Release™)

Performance Q1 2019 ......ccocoevieieiere e e Page 1
Continuation of strong momentum, Strategy 2022 .........ccccooeiveiereneienennn. Page 2
OULIOOK 2018 ...ttt ettt Page 3
Group and regional FIQUIES.........ccoieieiirie i Pages 3-4
Reconciliation to group accounts, Additional information...............ccccoceee Page 5

Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Ltd’s analyst presentation entitled “Q1
2019 trading update” published on 15 May 2019 (the “Q1 2019 Analyst Presentation”)

Q1 2019 HighlightS ....cve i Page 2
New Level of Financial Strength ..o Page 3
Q1 2019 PerfOrMANCE ......ccueiuieiieiiie ittt Page 4
Q1 2019 Volumes DevelopmeNt..........cccvvviveieiiere e Page 5
Q1 2019 Net SaleS Bridge ..cc.cceeeeieiie e Page 6
Q1 2019 Recurring EBITDADIAQE ...ocvvvieveiece e Page 7
Q1 2019 Net Sales and Recurring EBITDA by segment ...........cccccoeevvenuenne. Page 8
Q1 2019 Regional PErformance ..........cccvvviveiieienesesesie s seseeee e Pages 9-14
L@ U4 070 Q22 0 S Page 15
Targets 2019 .. ..o e Page 16

Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Ltd’s annual report and accounts for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Annual Report 2018)

Strategy 2022: Building for Growth............cccocevveveiiiniie e, Pages 22-25
RISK @Nd CONLIOL .....c.viiiiciece e e Pages 66-82
COrpOrate gOVEIMANCE .....c..eeviieieiiiesieeiieeieste e setesbeesbeesbe s e b e sbeesbeesbeeneaneas Pages 106-108
FINANCING ACHIVILY ...eveiiceie e Pages 144-146
Reconciliation of NON-GAAP MEASUIES ......ccceiuereeririerienieieeee e seeaneas Page 147
Consolidated statement of income of LafargeHolcim..........cccceoevvvviennnnnn, Page 162
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive earnings of LafargeHolcim........ Page 163

Consolidated statement of financial position of LafargeHolcim................... Pages 164-165
Consolidated statement of changes in equity of LafargeHolcim................... Pages 166-167
Consolidated statement of cash flows of LafargeHolcim...........c..cccocvvvnnnne. Page 168
Notes to the consolidated financial statements of LafargeHolcim ................ Pages 170-260

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements of

LafargeHOICIM ..o Pages 261-265
Statement of income of LafargeHolcim Ltd............ccoocoiiiiiiiniiiiiiicee, Page 266
Statement of financial position of LafargeHolcim Ltd.........c..cccceveverennnnnn, Page 267

Notes to the statutory financial statements of LafargeHolcim Ltd
(including data as required under Art. 663 b and ¢ of the Swiss Code of

(@] o] T[]0 PSS Pages 268-277
Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements of

LafargeHOICIM LG ..o Pages 278-279
Definition of NON-GAAP MEASUIES.........ccuiiriiereirierie e Pages 282-283

Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Ltd’s media release entitled “Strong sales
growth and over-proportional profitability increase in Q4 published on 7 March 2019 (the *“2018
Results Media Release™)

PerformanCe OVEIVIEW ........cc.civeiieiieriesesieseseesieseese e ste e ree e saesaesne e sneas Pages 1-3
OULIOOK 2019 ...t Page 3
Key Group figures 2018........cccvviviveieriisniesesiese e seese e e e e enee e e seeanens Pages 4-5
Regional PerfOrManCe .........ccveveie i Pages 6-10
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NON-GAAP DefiNItiONS......ccviiiiiiiiiiee e Pages 13-14

Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Ltd’s analyst presentation entitled “Full-
year 2018 Results” on 7 March 2019 (the “2018 Analyst Presentation™)

Highlights and Key DevelopmeNts .........ccccuoieieriniieiinesesee e Pages 3-10
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L@ U4 070 Q22 0 S Pages 31-33
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Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Ltd’s media release entitled
“LafargeHolcim divests activities in Malaysia and Singapore” published on 2 May 2019

LafargeHolcim divests activities in Malaysia and Singapore............ccccoevvi.. Pages 1-2

Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Ltd’s media release entitled
“LafargeHolcim divests activities in the Philippines” published on 9 May 2019
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Information incorporated by reference from LafargeHolcim Ltd’s media release entitled
“LafargeHolcim closes divestment of activities in Malaysia” published on 17 May 2019
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Such documents shall be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Prospectus, save that any statement
contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be modified or superseded for the
purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such earlier
statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not,
except as so modified or superseded, constitute a part of this Prospectus. Any information contained in any of
the documents specified above which is not incorporated by reference in this Prospectus is either not relevant
to investors or is covered elsewhere in this Prospectus. Such documents shall be made available, free of charge,
at the specified offices of the Fiscal Agent and each of the Paying Agents for the time being in Luxembourg, or
in respect of Notes to be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange at the specified offices of the Swiss principal paying
agent, during usual business hours on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted), as
described in “General Information” below and will also be available to view on the website of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu). In addition, copies of such documents may be obtained from each Issuer free
of charge upon request by contacting its registered office or e-mailing investor.relations@Ilafargeholcim.com.
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PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

The Obligors have given an undertaking to the Dealers that if at any time during the duration of the Programme
there is a significant new factor, mistake or material inaccuracy relating to information contained in this
Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes whose inclusion would reasonably be
required by investors for the purpose of making an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial
position, profits and losses and prospects of the Obligors and the rights attaching to the Notes, the Obligors
shall prepare a prospectus supplement or publish a replacement Prospectus approved by the CSSF for use in
connection with any subsequent offering of the Notes and shall supply to each Dealer such number of copies of
such supplement hereto as such Dealer may reasonably request.
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OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

This overview constitutes a general description of the Programme and any decision to invest in the Notes should
be based on a consideration of this Prospectus as a whole, including the documents incorporated by reference.
This overview is therefore qualified in its entirety by the remainder of the Prospectus.

Issuers:

Guarantor:

Description of LafargeHolcim Ltd:

Business of the Group:

Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance S.ar.l.
& Cie S.C.S,, LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim
Helvetia Finance Ltd, LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance
(Netherlands) B.V. and LafargeHolcim Ltd.

LafargeHolcim Ltd, in respect of Notes issued by Holcim
Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance S.ar.l. & Cie
S.C.S, LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim
Helvetia Finance Ltd and LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance
(Netherlands) B.V.

LafargeHolcim Ltd was registered as a corporation under Swiss
law under the name “Holderbank Financiére Glaris Ltd.” in the
Commercial Register of the Canton of Glarus, Switzerland, on 4
August 1930 under number CHE-100.136.893 (formerly
160.3.003.050-5 under the Commercial Register’s prior filing
system) with unlimited duration. As of 18 May 2001, the
company changed its name to “Holcim Ltd” and moved its
registered office to Rapperswil-Jona and is registered with the
Commercial Register of the Canton of St. Gallen, Switzerland.
As of 10 July 2015, Holcim Ltd completed its merger with
Lafarge S.A. and changed its name to “LafargeHolcim Ltd”.

The registered office of LafargeHolcim Ltd is at Zircherstrasse
156, 8645 Jona, Switzerland and its telephone number is +41 58
858 5858.

Legal Entity Identifier; 529900EHPFPYHV61Q098.

The Group’s business activities are organised into five
geographical regions: Asia Pacific; Latin America; Europe;
North America and Middle East Africa, and are divided into four
product lines:

e cement, which includes all activities focusing on the
manufacture and distribution of cement and other
cementitious materials;

e  aggregates, which comprises the production, processing
and distribution of aggregates such as crushed stone, gravel
and sand;

e  ready mix concrete; and

e  Solutions & Products, which comprises precast, concrete
products, asphalt, mortars and contracting and services.
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Description of Holcim
Finance (Luxembourg) S.A.:

Description of Holcim US
Finance S.ar.l. & Cie S.C.S.:

Description of LafargeHolcim Finance
USLLC:

Description of LafargeHolcim Helvetia
Finance Ltd:

Description of LafargeHolcim Sterling
Finance (Netherlands) B.V.

HFL was incorporated for an unlimited duration on 27 March
2003 in Luxembourg as a public limited liability company
(société anonyme) under Luxembourg law. HFL is registered
with the Register of Commerce and Companies of Luxembourg
under number B 92528.

The registered office of HFL is at 21, rue Louvigny, L-1946
Luxembourg, Luxembourg and its telephone number is +35 22
673 8840.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900XU3Z9D2HLBR716.

SCSL was incorporated on 28 November 2005 under
Luxembourg law as a société en commandite simple. SCSL has
been incorporated for an unlimited duration and is registered
with the Register of Commerce and Companies of Luxembourg
under number B 112666.

The registered office of SCSL is at 21, rue Louvigny, L-1946
Luxembourg, Luxembourg and its telephone number is +35 22
673 8840.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900CXLAPDSXWXLLO7.

LHFUS is a Delaware limited liability company, formed on 31
August 2016 for an unlimited duration and its register number is
6138676.

The registered office of LHFUS is 1209 Orange Street,
Wilmington, DE 19801, United States of America, its business
address is 8700 W. Bryn Mawr Ave., Suite 300, Chicago, Illinois
60631, United States of America and its telephone number is +1
302 658 7581.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900FB2F1WKLFNGY62.

LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd was registered as a
corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) under Swiss law with the
Commercial Register of the Canton of St. Gallen, Switzerland,
on 25 November 2015, under number CHE-364.227.140 with
unlimited duration.

The registered office of LHHF is at Neue Jonastrasse 60, 8640
Rapperswil, Switzerland, and its telephone number is +41 58 858
8678.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900F1VOCPF50VSSO07.

LHSF was incorporated on 14 March 2016 under the laws of the
Netherlands as a private company with limited liability (besloten
vennootschap met beperkte aansprakelijkheid), with its
corporate seat (statutaire zetel) at Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
LHSF has been incorporated for an unlimited duration and has
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Business of HFL, SCSL, LHFUS, LHHF
and LHSF:

Risk Factors:

Description of the Programme:

Size:

Arranger:

Dealers:

been registered with the trade register maintained by the Dutch
Chamber of Commerce under number 65563921.

The registered office of LHSF is at De Lairessestraat 131,
1075HJ Amsterdam, The Netherlands and its telephone number
is +31 (0)20 5788000.

Legal Entity Identifier: 529900KU5LFL22MEGKO7.

Each of HFL, SCSL, LHFUS, LHHF and LHSF acts as a finance
company on behalf of the Group.

There are certain factors that may affect the Relevant Issuer’s
ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the
Programme. There are also certain factors that may affect
LafargeHolcim Ltd’s ability to fulfil its obligations under the
Guarantee (as defined below). In addition, there are investment
considerations which are material for the purpose of assessing
the risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme
including the following:

(i) legal and compliance risks; (ii) sustainability risks; (iii)
financial risks; (iv) external risks; (v) risks relating to energy;
and (vi) operational risks; (vii) the Notes may not be a suitable
investment for all investors; (viii) the Notes may have features
which contain particular risks for potential investors such as an
optional redemption feature, fixed/floating rate Notes,
discontinuity of benchmarks on floating rate Notes and Notes
issued at a substantial discount or premium; (ix) the Group may
incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future; (X)
payments under certain Notes may be subject to Swiss
withholding tax under the proposed amendments to the Swiss
Federal Withholding Tax Act; (xi) risks relating to changes in law
or taxation laws, which affect the Notes; (xii) there are certain
risks relating to Notes where denominations involve integral
multiples; and (xiii) the Notes are subject to market risks,
including liquidity risk, exchange rate risks, interest rate risk and
credit risk.

See “Risk Factors” above.
Euro Medium Term Note Programme.

€10,000,000,000 (or the equivalent in other currencies at the date
of issue) aggregate nominal amount of Notes outstanding at any
one time.

Citigroup Global Markets Limited.

BNP Paribas, Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Citigroup
Global Markets Limited, NatWest Markets N.V., NatWest
Markets Plc, UBS AG London Branch and UniCredit Bank AG.

The Obligors may from time to time terminate the appointment
of any Dealer under the Programme or appoint additional dealers
either in respect of one or more Tranches or in respect of the
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Fiscal Agent:
Registrar:

Transfer Agent:

Swiss Listing Agent:

Method of Issue:

Issue Price:

Form of Notes:

whole Programme. References in this Prospectus to “Permanent
Dealers” are to the persons listed above as Dealers and to such
additional persons that are appointed as dealers in respect of the
whole Programme (and whose appointment has not been
terminated) and references to “Dealers” are to all Permanent
Dealers and all persons appointed as a dealer in respect of one or
more Tranches.

Citibank, N.A., London Branch.
Citibank, N.A., London Branch.
Citibank, N.A., London Branch.
UBS AG, Paradeplatz 6, 8089 Zurich.

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated
basis. The Notes will be issued in series (each a “Series™) having
one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or
identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest),
the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable
with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in
tranches (each a “Tranche”) on the same or different issue dates.
The specific terms of each Tranche (which, save in respect of the
issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and nominal
amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other
Tranches of the same Series) will be completed in the final terms
document (the “Final Terms”).

Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at a discount or
premium to their nominal amount as specified in the applicable
Final Terms.

The Notes issued by HFL, SCSL, LHHF and LHSF may be
issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”), in bearer form
exchangeable for Registered Notes (“Exchangeable Bearer
Notes”) or in registered form only (“Registered Notes”).
Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes and
Bearer Notes that are not Exchangeable Bearer Notes may not be
exchanged for Registered Notes. The Notes issued by LHFUS
may be issued as Registered Notes only.

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes and Exchangeable Bearer Notes
will be represented on issue by a Temporary Global Note if (i)
definitive Notes are to be made available to Noteholders
following the expiry of 40 days after their issue date or (ii) such
Notes have an initial maturity of more than one year and are
being issued in compliance with the D Rules (as defined in
“Subscription and Sale — Selling Restrictions” below).
Otherwise such Tranche will be represented by a Permanent
Global Note.

Registered Notes will be represented by Certificates, one
Certificate being issued in respect of each Noteholder’s entire
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Clearing Systems:

Initial Delivery of Notes:

holding of Registered Notes of one Series. Global Certificates
will be registered in the name of a nominee for one or more
clearing systems. Registered Notes issued by LHFUS will
initially be represented by a Temporary Global Certificate.
Beneficial interests in Temporary Global Certificates are
exchangeable for beneficial interests in Permanent Global
Certificates following the expiration of the Distribution
Compliance Period upon certification of non-U.S. beneficial
ownership or certification that the Notes were acquired in a
transaction exempt from the registration requirements of the
Securities Act.

Global Notes may be issued in NGN form or CGN form, as set
out in the relevant Final Terms.

Each Tranche of Notes denominated in Swiss francs (“Swiss
Franc Notes”) will be represented exclusively by a Permanent
Global Note which will be deposited with SIX SIS AG (“SIS”),
or such other intermediary (Verwahrungsstelle) in Switzerland
that, in the case of Swiss Franc Notes to be listed on the SIX
Swiss Exchange, is recognised for such purposes by the SIX
Swiss Exchange (SIS or such other intermediary, the
“Intermediary™), on or prior to the original issue date of such
Tranche. Such Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for
definitive Notes in whole but not in part only if the Swiss
principal paying agent should deem, after consultation with the
Relevant Issuer, that the printing of definitive Notes is necessary
or useful, or if the presentation of definitive Notes is required by
Swiss or other applicable laws and regulations in connection
with the enforcement of rights of Noteholders, or if the Swiss
principal paying agent at any time at its discretion determines to
have definitive Notes issued; holders of Swiss Franc Notes will
not have the right to effect or demand the conversion of the
Permanent Global Notes representing such Swiss Franc Notes
into, or delivery of, Notes in definitive or uncertificated form.

Pursuant to the Belgian Law of 14 December 2005 abolishing
bearer securities, securities in bearer form may no longer be
physically delivered in Belgium. Accordingly, Bearer Notes and
Exchangeable Bearer Notes may not be physically delivered to
Noteholders in Belgium.

Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and, in relation to any
Tranche, such other clearing system as may be agreed between
the Relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the Relevant Dealer
and, as the case may be, the Registrar.

On or before the issue date for each Tranche, if the relevant
Global Note is an NGN or the relevant Global Certificate is held
under the NSS, the Global Note or Global Certificate will be
delivered to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and
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Currencies:

Maturities:

Denomination:

Clearstream, Luxembourg. On or before the issue date for each
Tranche, if the relevant Global Note is a CGN or the relevant
Global Certificate is not held under the NSS, the Global Note
representing Bearer Notes or Exchangeable Bearer Notes or the
Global Certificate representing Registered Notes may (or, in the
case of Notes admitted to the Official List and admitted to trading
on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange,
shall) be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and
Clearstream, Luxembourg. Global Notes or Global Certificates
relating to Notes that are not admitted to the Official List and
admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange may also be deposited with any other clearing
system or may be delivered outside any clearing system provided
that the method of such delivery has been agreed in advance by
the Relevant Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, and the Relevant Dealer
and, as the case may be, the Registrar. Registered Notes that are
to be credited to one or more clearing systems on issue will be
registered in the name of nominees or a common nominee for
such clearing systems. The Permanent Global Note representing
any Tranche of Swiss Franc Notes will be deposited with the
Intermediary on or prior to the original issue date of such
Tranche (see “Form of Notes” above).

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and
directives, Notes may be issued in any currency agreed between
the Relevant Issuer and the Relevant Dealers.

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and
directives, any maturity agreed between the Relevant Issuer and
the Relevant Dealers.

According to the Luxembourg Act relating to prospectuses for
securities (the “Luxembourg Act”), the CSSF is not competent
to approve prospectuses for the listing of money market
instruments having a maturity at issue of less than 12 months and
which also comply with the definition of securities in the
Luxembourg Act.

In the case of any Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a
regulated market within the European Economic Area (“EEA”)
or offered to the public in a Member State of the EEA in
circumstances which require the publication of a prospectus
under the Prospectus Directive, the minimum Specified
Denomination shall be €100,000 (or the equivalent of such
amounts in another currency as at the date of issue of the Notes).

Definitive Notes will be in such denominations as may be
specified in the relevant Final Terms unless otherwise permitted
by then current laws and regulations, Notes (including Notes
denominated in Sterling) having a maturity of less than one year
and in respect of which the issue proceeds are to be accepted by
the Relevant Issuer in the United Kingdom or whose issue
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Fixed Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

Benchmark Discontinuation:

Zero Coupon Notes:

Interest Periods and Interest Rates:

Step Down Rating Change or Step Up
Rating Change:

Redemption:

Optional Redemption:

otherwise constitutes a contravention of section 19 of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (“FSMA”) will have a
minimum denomination of GBP 100,000 (or its equivalent in
other currencies).

Fixed interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in
each year specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest determined separately for
each Series by reference to LIBOR or EURIBOR as adjusted for
any applicable margin. Interest periods will be specified in the
relevant Final Terms.

On the occurrence of a Benchmark Event, the Issuer may
(subject to certain conditions and following consultation with an
Independent Adviser) determine a Successor Rate, failing which
an Alternative Rate and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread, if
any, and any Benchmark Amendments in accordance with
Condition 5(1).

Zero Coupon Notes may be issued at their nominal amount or at
a discount to it and will not bear interest.

The length of the interest periods for the Notes and the applicable
interest rate or its method of calculation may differ from time to
time or be constant for any Series. Notes may have a fixed or a
floating rate and may have a maximum interest rate, a minimum
interest rate or both. The use of interest accrual periods permits
the Notes to bear interest at different rates in the same interest
period.

The relevant Final Terms will state whether a Step Down Rating
Change or Step Up Rating Change Event will apply to the Notes,
in which case, the rate of interest in respect of the Notes may be
subject to adjustment as specified in the relevant Final Terms.
See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Step Down Rating
Change or Step Up Rating Change” below.

The relevant Final Terms will specify the redemption amounts
payable. Unless permitted by then current laws and regulations,
Notes (including Notes denominated in Sterling) which have a
maturity of less than one year and in respect of which the issue
proceeds are to be accepted by the Relevant Issuer in the United
Kingdom or whose issue otherwise constitutes a contravention
of section 19 of the FSMA must have a minimum redemption
amount of GBP 100,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies).

The Final Terms issued in respect of each issue of Notes will
state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated
maturity at the option of the Relevant Issuer (either in whole or
in part) and/or the holders. In addition, if so specified in the
relevant Final Terms, if a Change of Control Put Event occurs, a
holder of a Note will have the option to require the Issuer to
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Status of Notes:

Status of Guarantee:

Negative Pledge:

Cross Default:

Early Redemption:

Withholding Tax:

Governing Law:

redeem such Note at the Change of Control Redemption Amount
specified in the relevant Final Terms.

The Notes will constitute direct, senior, unconditional and
unsecured obligations of the Relevant Issuer, as described in
“Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Guarantee and Status”.

The guarantee of the Notes (the “Guarantee”) will constitute a
direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligation
of the Guarantor, as described in “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes — Guarantee and Status”. See “Form of Guarantee”.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Negative Pledge”
below.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Notes — Events of Default”
below.

Except as provided in “Optional Redemption” above, Notes will
be redeemable at the option of the Relevant Issuer prior to
maturity only for tax reasons. See “Terms and Conditions of the
Notes — Redemption, Purchase and Options” below.

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes by
the Relevant Issuer (other than LafargeHolcim Ltd and
LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd) and the Guarantor (other
than in respect of Notes issued by LafargeHolcim Helvetia
Finance Ltd) will be made free and clear of withholding taxes of
Luxembourg, the Netherlands, the United States or Switzerland,
as the case may be, in each case subject to certain exceptions, all
as described in “Form of Guarantee” and “Terms and Conditions
of the Notes — Taxation”.

In respect of Notes issued by LafargeHolcim Ltd or
LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd, all payments of interest on
the Notes (including a potential issue discount or repayment
premium) by the Relevant Issuer or, in the case of Notes issued
by LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd, the Guarantor will be
subject to Swiss federal withholding tax (which is currently set
at a rate of 35 per cent.). No additional amounts shall be paid by
the Issuer in respect of any such withholding. The holder of a
Note residing in Switzerland who, at the time the payment of
interest is due, is the beneficial recipient of the payment of
interest and who duly reports the gross payment of interest in his
or her tax return and, as the case may be, in the statement of
income, is entitled to a full refund of or a full tax credit for the
Swiss federal withholding tax. A holder of a Note who is not
resident in Switzerland may be able to claim a full or partial
refund of the Swiss federal withholding tax by virtue of
provisions of an applicable double taxation treaty, if any,
between Switzerland and the country of residence of such holder.

The Notes will be governed by and construed in accordance with
English law. The provisions of Articles 470-1 to 470-19 of the
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Listing and Admission to Trading:

Ratings:

Selling Restrictions:

Luxembourg law on commercial companies of 10 August 1915,
as amended, are excluded.

The Guarantee will be governed by and construed in accordance
with Swiss substantive law.

Application has been made, or will be made, to list Notes issued
under the Programme on the Official List of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange and to admit them to trading on the Market
except in the case of Notes issued by LHHF or to list Notes
issued under the Programme on the SIX Swiss Exchange. The
CSSF has neither approved nor reviewed information contained
in this Prospectus in connection with Notes listed on the SIX
Swiss Exchange.

LafargeHolcim Ltd and the Programme have been rated BBB by
S&P and Baa2 by Moody’s. Tranches of Notes issued under the
Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes
is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating
assigned to the Programme. A security rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be
subject to supervision, reduction or withdrawal at any time by
the assigning rating agency.

The United States, the EEA or the Public Offer Selling
Restriction under the Prospectus Directive, the United Kingdom,
Luxembourg, Italy, the Netherlands, Japan, Singapore and
Switzerland. See “Subscription and Sale” below.

Notes issued by HFL, SCSL, LHHF and LHSF are Category 2
for the purposes of Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Notes issued by LHFUS are Category 3 for the purposes of
Regulation S under the Securities Act.

If the relevant Final Terms specify that the applicable TEFRA
exemption is “TEFRA D”, then the Bearer Notes will be issued
in compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (or any
successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable
for purposes of Section 4701 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the “Code™)) (the “D Rules”) unless (i) the
relevant Final Terms specify that the applicable TEFRA
exemption is “TEFRA C”, then the Bearer Notes are issued in
compliance with U.S. Treas. Reg. 81.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (or any
successor rules in substantially the same form that are applicable
for purposes of Section 4701 of the Code) (the “C Rules™) or (ii)
if the relevant Final Terms specify “TEFRA not applicable”, then
the Notes are issued other than in compliance with the D Rules
or the C Rules but in circumstances in which the Notes will not
constitute “registration required obligations” under the United
States Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982
(“TEFRA”).
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions that, subject to completion in accordance with the
provisions of Part A of the relevant Final Terms, shall be applicable to the Notes in definitive form (if any)
issued in exchange for the Global Note(s) or Global Certificate(s) representing each Series. Either (i) the full
text of these terms and conditions together with the relevant provisions of Part A of the relevant Final Terms or
(ii) these terms and conditions as so completed (and subject to simplification by the deletion of non-applicable
provisions), shall be endorsed on such Bearer Notes or on the Certificates relating to such Registered Notes.
All capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them in Part A of
the relevant Final Terms. Those definitions will be endorsed on the definitive Notes or Certificates, as the case
may be. References in these Conditions to “Notes™ are to the Notes of one Series only, not to all Notes that may
be issued under the Programme.

This Note is one of a series (“Series”) of Notes issued by, as specified hereon, Holcim Finance (Luxembourg)
S.A., Holcim US Finance S.a rl. & Cie S.C.S., LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim Helvetia
Finance Ltd, LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V. or LafargeHolcim Ltd (each an “Issuer” and,
together, the “Issuers™) and, in the case of Notes issued by Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US
Finance S.a r.l. & Cie S.C.S., LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd or
LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V., guaranteed by LafargeHolcim Ltd (in such capacity, the
“Guarantor”). The Issuers and the Guarantor are together referred to as the “Obligors”.

The Notes are issued pursuant to an Agency Agreement (as amended or supplemented as at the Issue Date, the
“Agency Agreement”) dated 20 May 2019 between the Obligors, Citibank, N.A., London Branch as fiscal
agent and the other agents named in it and with the benefit of a Deed of Covenant (as amended or supplemented
as at the Issue Date, the “Deed of Covenant”) dated 20 May 2019 executed by the Obligors in relation to the
Notes. The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the registrar, the transfer agents and the calculation agent(s) for the
time being (if any) are referred to below respectively as the “Fiscal Agent”, the “Paying Agents” (which
expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), the “Registrar”, the “Transfer Agents” and the “Calculation
Agent(s)”. The Noteholders (as defined below) and the holders of the interest coupons (the “Coupons”) relating
to interest bearing Notes in bearer form and, where applicable in the case of such Notes, talons for further
Coupons (the “Talons”) (the “Couponholders”) are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the
Agency Agreement applicable to them. References herein to the “Notes” shall be references to the Notes of this
Series only, not to all Notes that may be issued under the Programme.

Copies of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and guarantee (as amended or supplemented as at the
Issue Date, the “Guarantee”) dated 20 May 2019 executed by the Guarantor are available for inspection at the
specified offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.

Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”, which expression includes Notes that are specified to be
Exchangeable Bearer Notes), in registered form (“Registered Notes”) or in bearer form exchangeable for
Registered Notes (“Exchangeable Bearer Notes”) in each case in the Specified Denomination(s) shown
hereon. LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC may only issue Registered Notes.

All Registered Notes shall have the same Specified Denomination. Where Exchangeable Bearer Notes are
issued, the Registered Notes for which they are exchangeable shall have the same Specified Denomination as
the lowest denomination of Exchangeable Bearer Notes.

This Note is a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, a combination of any of the
foregoing or any other kind of Note, depending upon the Interest and Redemption/Payment Basis shown hereon.
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Bearer Notes are serially numbered and are issued with Coupons (and, where appropriate, a Talon) attached,
save in the case of Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to interest (other than in relation to interest due
after the Maturity Date), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable.

Registered Notes are represented by registered certificates (“Certificates”) and, save as provided in Condition
2(c), each Certificate shall represent the entire holding of Registered Notes by the same holder.

Title to the Bearer Notes and the Coupons and Talons shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered Notes shall
pass by registration in the register that the Relevant Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar in accordance
with the provisions of the Agency Agreement (the “Register”). Except as ordered by a court of competent
jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder (as defined below) of any Note, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed
to be and may be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes, whether or not it is overdue and regardless of
any notice of ownership, trust or any interest in it, any writing on it (or on the Certificate representing it) or its
theft or loss (or that of the related Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating the holder.

In these Conditions, “Noteholder” means the bearer of any Bearer Note or the person in whose name a
Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), “holder” (in relation to a Note, Coupon or Talon) means the
bearer of any Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as
the case may be) and capitalised terms have the meanings given to them hereon, the absence of any such
meaning indicating that such term is not applicable to the Notes.

Each Tranche of Notes denominated in Swiss francs (““Swiss Franc Notes’”) will be represented exclusively by
a Permanent Global Note which will be deposited with SIX SIS AG (““SIS™), or such other intermediary
(Verwahrungsstelle) in Switzerland that, in the case of Swiss Franc Notes to be listed on the SIX Swiss
Exchange, is recognised for such purposes by the SIX Swiss Exchange (SIS or such other intermediary, the
“Intermediary”), on or prior to the original issue date of such Tranche. As a matter of Swiss law, once the
Permanent Global Note has been deposited with the Intermediary and entered into the accounts of one or more
participants of the Intermediary, the Swiss Franc Notes represented thereby will constitute intermediated
securities (Bucheffekten) within the meaning of the Swiss Federal Intermediated Securities Act
(Bucheffektengesetz) (“Intermediated Securities’). The Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for
definitive Notes in whole but not in part only if the Swiss principal paying agent should, after consultation with
the Issuer, deem the printing of definitive Notes to be necessary or useful, or if the presentation of definitive
Notes is required by Swiss or other applicable laws and regulations in connection with the enforcement of rights
of Noteholders, or if the Swiss principal paying agent at any time at its discretion determines to have definitive
Notes issued; holders of Swiss Franc Notes will not have the right to effect or demand the conversion of the
Permanent Global Note representing such Swiss Franc Notes into, or delivery of, Notes in definitive or
uncertificated form. If definitive Notes are delivered, the relevant Permanent Global Note will be immediately
cancelled by the Swiss principal paying agent and the definitive Notes shall be delivered to the relevant holders
against cancellation of the relevant Swiss Franc Notes in such holders’ securities accounts.

As a matter of Swiss law, a holder of an interest in the Permanent Global Note retains a quotal co-ownership
interest (Miteigentumsanteil) in the Permanent Global Note to the extent of the Notes represented by such
Permanent Global Note in which such holder has an interest; provided, however, that, for so long as the
Permanent Global Note remains deposited with the Intermediary (i.e., for so long as the Notes represented
thereby constitute Intermediated Securities), the co-ownership interest is suspended and the Notes represented
thereby may only be transferred by the entry of the transferred Notes in a securities account of the transferee.
For so long as Notes constitute Intermediated Securities, as a matter of Swiss law, (i) the records of the
Intermediary will determine the number of Notes held through each participant of the Intermediary and (ii) the
holders of such Notes will be the persons holding such Notes in a securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in
their name or, in the case of intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen), the intermediaries (Verwahrungsstellen)
holding such Notes for their own account in a securities account (Effektenkonto) that is in their name (and the
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expressions “Noteholder”” and ““holder of Notes™ and related expressions used herein shall be construed
accordingly).

Exchanges of Exchangeable Bearer Notes and Transfers of Registered Notes

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Exchange of Exchangeable Bearer Notes

Subject as provided in Condition 2(f), Exchangeable Bearer Notes may be exchanged for the same
nominal amount of Registered Notes at the request in writing of the relevant Noteholder and upon
surrender of each Exchangeable Bearer Note to be exchanged, together with all unmatured Coupons and
Talons relating to it, at the specified office of any Transfer Agent; provided, however, that where an
Exchangeable Bearer Note is surrendered for exchange after the Record Date (as defined in Condition
7(b)) for any payment of interest, the Coupon in respect of that payment of interest need not be
surrendered with it. Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes. Bearer Notes of one
Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination.
Bearer Notes that are not Exchangeable Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes.

Transfer of Registered Notes

One or more Registered Notes may be transferred upon the surrender (at the specified office of the
Registrar or any Transfer Agent) of the Certificate representing such Registered Notes to be transferred,
together with the form of transfer endorsed on such Certificate (or another form of transfer substantially
in the same form and containing the same representations and certifications (if any), unless otherwise
agreed by the Issuer), duly completed and executed and any other evidence as the Registrar or Transfer
Agent may reasonably require. In the case of a transfer of part only of a holding of Registered Notes
represented by one Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the transferee in respect of the part
transferred and a further new Certificate in respect of the balance of the holding not transferred shall be
issued to the transferor. All transfers of Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the
detailed regulations concerning transfers of Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations
may be changed, insofar as they relate to the Notes, by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the
Registrar and the Noteholders. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar
to any Noteholder (and, in respect of Notes admitted to the Official List and admitted to trading on the
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, any member of the public) upon request.

Exercise of Options or Partial Redemption in Respect of Registered Notes

In the case of an exercise of an Issuer’s or Noteholders’ option in respect of, or a partial redemption of,
a holding of Registered Notes represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the
holder to reflect the exercise of such option or in respect of the balance of the holding not redeemed. In
the case of a partial exercise of an option resulting in Registered Notes of the same holding having
different terms, separate Certificates shall be issued in respect of those Notes of that holding that have
the same terms. New Certificates shall only be issued against surrender of the existing Certificates to the
Registrar or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of Registered Notes to a person who is already
a holder of Registered Notes, a new Certificate representing the enlarged holding shall only be issued
against surrender of the Certificate representing the existing holding.

Delivery of New Certificates

Each new Certificate to be issued pursuant to Conditions 2(a), (b) or (c) shall be available for delivery
within seven business days of receipt of the request for exchange, form of transfer or Exercise Notice
(as defined in Condition 6(e)) and surrender of the Certificate for exchange. Delivery of the new
Certificate(s) shall be made at the specified office of the Transfer Agent or of the Registrar (as the case
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may be) to whom delivery or surrender of such request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice
or Certificate shall have been made or, at the option of the holder making such delivery or surrender as
aforesaid and as specified in the relevant request for exchange, form of transfer, Exercise Notice or
otherwise in writing, be mailed by uninsured post at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate
to such address as may be so specified, unless such holder requests otherwise and pays in advance to the
relevant Agent (as defined in the Agency Agreement) the costs of such other method of delivery and/or
such insurance as it may specify. In this Condition 2(d), “business day” means a day, other than a
Saturday or Sunday, on which banks are open for business in the place of the specified office of the
relevant Transfer Agent or the Registrar (as the case may be).

Exchange Free of Charge

Exchange and transfer of Notes and Certificates on registration, transfer, partial redemption or exercise
of an option shall be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer
Agents, but upon payment of any tax or other governmental charges that may be imposed in relation to
it (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require).

Closed Periods

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered or an Exchangeable Bearer
Note to be exchanged for one or more Registered Note(s) (i) during the period of 30 days ending on the
due date for redemption of that Note, (ii) during the period of 30 days before any date on which Notes
may be called for redemption by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 6(d), (iii) after any such
Note has been called for redemption or (iv) during the period of seven days ending on (and including)
any Record Date. An Exchangeable Bearer Note called for redemption may, however, be exchanged for
one or more Registered Note(s) in respect of which the Certificate is simultaneously surrendered not
later than the relevant Record Date.

3 Guarantee and Status

(@)

(b)

(©

Guarantee

The Guarantor has irrevocably and unconditionally guaranteed, in accordance with the terms of Article
111 of the Swiss Code of Obligations, the due and punctual payment of principal, interest and all other
amounts payable by Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance S.a r.l. & Cie S.C.S,,
LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd and LafargeHolcim Sterling
Finance (Netherlands) B.V. under the Notes and Coupons as and when the same become due under these
Conditions. Its obligations in that respect are contained in, and are subject to the limitations provided in,
the Guarantee.

Status of Notes

The Notes and Coupons constitute direct, senior, unconditional and (subject to Condition 4) unsecured
obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and with all
other present or future (subject as aforesaid) unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer
(other than obligations which are preferred by bankruptcy, liquidation or other similar laws of general
application).

Status of Guarantee

The Guarantee constitutes a direct, unconditional, (subject to Condition 4) unsecured and
unsubordinated obligation of the Guarantor ranking pari passu with all other present or future (subject
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as aforesaid) unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor (other than obligations which
are preferred by bankruptcy, liquidation or other similar laws of general application).

Negative Pledge

(@)

(b)

So long as any Note remains outstanding (as defined in the Agency Agreement), neither the Issuer nor
the Guarantor will create or have outstanding any mortgage, pledge, lien or other charge (“Security”)
upon the whole or any part of its undertaking or assets, present or future, to secure any Relevant
Indebtedness or any guarantee for or indemnity in respect of any Relevant Indebtedness unless in any
such case at the same time the Issuer’s obligations under the Notes or the Guarantor’s obligations under
the Guarantee are secured by the same Security as is created or is outstanding in respect of such Relevant
Indebtedness, guarantee or indemnity or as shall be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined
in the Agency Agreement) of the Noteholders.

For the purposes of this Condition, “Relevant Indebtedness” means any indebtedness in the form of,
or represented by, bonds, notes, debentures or other similar securities which are capable of being quoted,
listed or traded on any stock exchange or over-the-counter or other securities market and which has an
original maturity of at least one year from its date of issue.

Interest and other Calculations

(@)

(b)

Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from (and including) the Interest
Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Rate of Interest,
such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 7.
The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with Condition 5(f).

If a Fixed Coupon Amount or a Broken Amount is specified hereon, the amount of interest payable on
each Interest Payment Date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount or, if applicable, the Broken
Amount so specified and in the case of the Broken Amount will be payable on the particular Interest
Payment Date(s) specified hereon.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes
(i) Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from (and including)
the Interest Commencement Date at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the
Rate of Interest, such interest being payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as
provided in Condition 7. The amount of interest payable shall be determined in accordance with
Condition 5(f). Such Interest Payment Date(s) is/are either shown hereon as Specified Interest
Payment Dates or, if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are shown hereon, Interest Payment
Date shall mean each date which falls the number of months or other period shown hereon as the
Interest Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest
Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

(i)  Business Day Convention

If any date referred to in these Conditions that is specified to be subject to adjustment in
accordance with a Business Day Convention would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business
Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is (A) the Floating Rate Business Day
Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would
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thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (x) such date shall be brought forward
to the immediately preceding Business Day and (y) each subsequent such date shall be the last
Business Day of the month in which such date would have fallen had it not been subject to
adjustment, (B) the Following Business Day Convention, such date shall be postponed to the next
day that is a Business Day, (C) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such date shall
be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next
calendar month, in which event such date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding
Business Day or (D) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such date shall be brought forward
to the immediately preceding Business Day.

Rate of Interest for Floating Rate Notes

The Rate of Interest in respect of Floating Rate Notes for each Interest Accrual Period shall be
determined in the manner specified hereon and the provisions below relating to Screen Rate
Determination shall apply.

(@  Where Screen Rate Determination is specified hereon as the manner in which the Rate of
Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Accrual Period will,
subject to Condition 5(1) and as provided below, be either:

()] the offered quotation; or

(1) the arithmetic mean of the offered quotations, (expressed as a percentage rate per
annum) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the
Relevant Screen Page as at 11.00 a.m. London time in the case of LIBOR or Zurich
time in the case of EURIBOR, in each case on the Interest Determination Date in
question as determined by the Calculation Agent. If five or more of such offered
quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is
more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest
(or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations)
shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the
arithmetic mean of such offered quotations.

(b)  Where LIBOR or EURIBOR s specified hereon as the relevant Reference Rate, if the
Relevant Screen Page is not available or if sub-paragraph (a)(l) applies and no such offered
quotation appears on the Relevant Screen Page or if sub-paragraph (a)(ll) applies and
fewer than three such offered quotations appear on the Relevant Screen Page, in each case
as at the time specified above, subject as provided below, the Calculation Agent shall
request, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the principal London office of each of the
Reference Banks or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the principal Euro-zone office of
each of the Reference Banks to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation
(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate if the Reference Rate
is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time), or if the Reference Rate is
EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Zurich time) on the Interest Determination Date
in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with
such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be the
arithmetic mean of such offered quotations as determined by the Calculation Agent.

(c) If paragraph (b) above applies and the Calculation Agent determines that fewer than two
Reference Banks are providing offered quotations, subject as provided below, the Rate of
Interest (subject as provided in Condition 5(e)) shall be the arithmetic mean of the rates
per annum (expressed as a percentage) as communicated to (and at the request of) the
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Calculation Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such
banks were offered, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London
time) or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Zurich time)
on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for a
period equal to that which would have been used for the Reference Rate by leading banks
in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the London inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate
is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-bank market as the case may be, or, if fewer than two
of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with such offered rates, the offered
rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have
been used for the Reference Rate, or the arithmetic mean of the offered rates for deposits
in the Specified Currency for a period equal to that which would have been used for the
Reference Rate, at which, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m.
(London time) or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Zurich
time) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or
banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the
Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in, if the Reference Rate is LIBOR, the
London inter-bank market or, if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR, the Euro-zone inter-
bank market as the case may be, provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined
in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be
determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting,
where a different Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the
relevant Interest Accrual Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest
Accrual Period, the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the
relevant Interest Accrual Period, in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate
of Interest relating to that last preceding Interest Accrual Period).

Zero Coupon Notes

Where a Note the Interest Basis of which is specified to be Zero Coupon is repayable prior to the Maturity
Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable prior to the Maturity Date shall be the Early
Redemption Amount of such Note. As from the Maturity Date, the Rate of Interest for any overdue
principal of such a Note shall be a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation
Yield (as described in Condition 6(b)(i)).

Accrual of Interest

Interest shall cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation,
payment is improperly withheld or refused, in which event interest shall continue to accrue (as well after
as before judgment) at the Rate of Interest in the manner provided in this Condition 5 to the Relevant
Date (as defined in Condition 8).

Margin, Maximum/Minimum Rates of Interest and Redemption Amounts and Rounding

(i) If any Margin is specified hereon (either (x) generally, or (y) in relation to one or more Interest
Accrual Periods), an adjustment shall be made to all Rates of Interest, in the case of (x), or the
Rates of Interest for the specified Interest Accrual Periods, in the case of (y), calculated in
accordance with Condition 5(b) above by adding (if a positive number) or subtracting (if a
negative number) the absolute value of such Margin, subject always to the next paragraph.
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(i) If any Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount is specified hereon, then
any Rate of Interest or Redemption Amount shall be subject to such maximum or minimum, as
the case may be.

(iii)  For the purposes of any calculations required pursuant to these Conditions (unless otherwise
specified), (x) all percentages resulting from such calculations shall be rounded, if necessary, to
the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with halves being rounded up), (y) all
figures shall be rounded to seven significant figures (with halves being rounded up) and (z) all
currency amounts that fall due and payable shall be rounded to the nearest unit of such currency
(with halves being rounded up), save in the case of yen, which shall be rounded down to the
nearest yen. For these purposes “unit” means the lowest amount of such currency that is available
as legal tender in such currency.

Calculations

The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount in respect of any Note for any Interest Accrual
Period shall be equal to the product of the Rate of Interest, the Calculation Amount specified hereon,
and the Day Count Fraction for such Interest Accrual Period, unless an Interest Amount (or a formula
for its calculation) is applicable to such Interest Accrual Period, in which case the amount of interest
payable per Calculation Amount in respect of such Note for such Interest Accrual Period shall equal such
Interest Amount (or be calculated in accordance with such formula). Where any Interest Period
comprises two or more Interest Accrual Periods, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount
in respect of such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Interest Amounts payable in respect of each of
those Interest Accrual Periods. In respect of any other period for which interest is required to be
calculated, the provisions above shall apply save that the Day Count Fraction shall be for the period for
which interest is required to be calculated.

Determination and Publication of Rates of Interest, Interest Amounts, Final Redemption
Amounts, Early Redemption Amounts, Optional Redemption Amounts, Clean-Up Redemption
Price and Change of Control Redemption Amounts

The Calculation Agent shall, as soon as practicable on such date as the Calculation Agent may be
required to calculate any rate or amount, obtain any quotation or make any determination or calculation,
determine such rate and calculate the Interest Amounts for the relevant Interest Accrual Period, calculate
the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount, Clean-Up
Redemption Price or Change of Control Redemption Amount, obtain such quotation or make such
determination or calculation, as the case may be, and cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts
for each Interest Accrual Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date and, if required to be calculated,
the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount, Clean-Up
Redemption Price or any Change of Control Redemption Amount to be notified to the Fiscal Agent, the
Issuer, each of the Paying Agents, the Noteholders, any other Calculation Agent appointed in respect of
the Notes that is to make a further calculation upon receipt of such information and, if the Notes are
listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange or other relevant authority so require, such
exchange or other relevant authority as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later
than (i) the commencement of the relevant Interest Period, if determined prior to such time, in the case
of notification to such exchange or, as the case may be, other relevant authority of a Rate of Interest and
Interest Amount, or (ii) in all other cases, the 4th Business Day after such determination.

Where any Interest Payment Date or Interest Period Date is subject to adjustment pursuant to Condition
5(b)(ii), the Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so published may subsequently be amended
(or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an
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extension or shortening of the Interest Period. If the Notes become due and payable under Condition 10,
the accrued interest and the Rate of Interest payable in respect of the Notes shall nevertheless continue
to be calculated as previously in accordance with this Condition but no publication of the Rate of Interest
or the Interest Amount so calculated need be made. The determination of any rate or amount, the
obtaining of each quotation and the making of each determination or calculation by the Calculation
Agent(s) shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified hereon as applicable in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the
Rate of Interest for such Interest Accrual Period shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight
line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Reference Rate, one of which
shall be determined as if the Applicable Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available
next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Accrual Period and the other of which shall be
determined as if the Applicable Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer
than the length of the relevant Interest Accrual Period provided however that if there is no rate available
for the period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Calculation Agent shall
determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

“Applicable Maturity” means the period of time designated in the Reference Rate.
Definitions

In these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the
meanings set out below:

“Business Day” means:

(i) in the case of a currency other than Euro, a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre
for such currency; and/or

(i) in the case of Euro, a day on which the TARGET System is operating (a “TARGET Business
Day™); and/or

(iii)  in the case of one or more Business Centres specified hereon, a day (other than a Saturday or a
Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open
for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the
Business Centre(s);

“Clean-Up Redemption Price” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other
amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms which shall, where a Clean Up Event has
occurred following or as a result of redemption pursuant to Condition 6(d)(i) at the Make-Whole
Amount, be the Make-Whole Amount in respect of redemption pursuant to the Clean-Up Event;

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest on any Note for any
period of time (from and including the first day of such period to but excluding the last) (whether or not
constituting an Interest Period or Interest Accrual Period, the “Calculation Period”):

() if “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual — ISDA” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in
the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Calculation Period falls in a leap
year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in
a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation
Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
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(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 365;

if “Actual/365 (Sterling)” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period
divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;

if “Actual/360” is specified hereon, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided
by 360;

if “30/360” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360,
calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = [360 x (Y2 - Y1)] + [30 x (M2 - M1)]+ (D5 - D1)

360
where:
“Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M;” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“My" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D;” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30; and

“Dy” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D, is greater than 29, in which case

D2 will be 30;

if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation
Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = [360 x (Y5 - Y1)] + [30 x (M5 - Mq)]+ (D2 - Dq)

360
where:
“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M;” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“My" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;
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(viii)

where:

“D4” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such
number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“Dy” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case Do will be 30;

if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is specified hereon, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided
by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = [360 x (Y5 - Y1)] + [30 x (M5 - Mq)]+ (D5 - Dq)

360
where:
“Y1" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

“Y," is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day
included in the Calculation Period falls;

“M;” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation
Period falls;

“My" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the
last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

“D;” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that
day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“Dy” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in
the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or
(ii) such number would be 31, in which case D, will be 30;

if “Actual/Actual-ICMA” is specified hereon,

(@)  ifthe Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which
it falls, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the
number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods
normally ending in any year; and

(b)  if the Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:

(X)  the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period
in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such
Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally
ending in any year; and

(y)  the number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Determination
Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination
Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year,

“Determination Date” means the date(s) specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, the Interest
Payment Date(s);
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“Determination Period” means the period from and including a Determination Date in any year to but
excluding the next Determination Date;

“Early Redemption Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount
as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Euro-zone” means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the single
currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended;

“Interest Accrual Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement
Date and ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Period Date and each successive period beginning
on (and including) an Interest Period Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest
Period Date;

“Interest Amount” means:

(i) in respect of an Interest Accrual Period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount
for that Interest Accrual Period and which, in the case of Fixed Rate Notes, and unless otherwise
specified hereon, shall mean the Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount specified hereon as
being payable on the Interest Payment Date ending the Interest Period of which such Interest
Accrual Period forms part; and

(i) in respect of any other period, the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for that
period;

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified hereon;

“Interest Determination Date” means, with respect to a Rate of Interest and Interest Accrual Period,
the date specified as such hereon or, if none is so specified, (i) the first day of such Interest Accrual
Period if the Specified Currency is Sterling or (ii) the day falling two Business Days in London prior to
the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the Specified Currency is neither Sterling nor Euro or (iii)
the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Accrual Period if the
Specified Currency is Euro;

“Interest Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and
ending on (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and
including) an Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment
Date;

“Interest Period Date” means each Interest Payment Date unless otherwise specified hereon;
“Maximum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Minimum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Optional Redemption Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other
amount as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Rate of Interest” means the rate of interest payable from time to time in respect of this Note and that
is either specified or calculated in accordance with the provisions hereon;

“Reference Banks” means, in the case of a determination of LIBOR, the principal London office of four
major banks in the London inter-bank market and in the case of a determination of EURIBOR, the
principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market, in each case selected
by the Calculation Agent in consultation with the Issuer;
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“Relevant Screen Page” means such page, section, caption, column or other part of a particular
information service as may be specified hereon (or any successor or replacement page, section, caption,
column or other part of a particular information service);

“Reference Rate” means the rate specified as such hereon;

“Specified Currency” means the currency specified as such hereon or, if none is specified, the currency
in which the Notes are denominated; and

“TARGET System” means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express
Transfer (known as TARGET 2) System which was launched on 19 November 2007 or any successor
thereto.

Calculation Agent

The Issuer shall use all reasonable endeavours to procure that there shall at all times be one or more
Calculation Agents, in each case if provision is made for them hereon and for so long as any Note is
outstanding. Where more than one Calculation Agent is appointed in respect of the Notes, references in
these Conditions to the Calculation Agent shall be construed as each Calculation Agent performing its
respective duties under these Conditions. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such
or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for an Interest Accrual Period or to
calculate any Interest Amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional
Redemption Amount, Clean-Up Redemption Price or Change of Control Redemption Amount, as the
case may be, or to comply with any other requirement, the Issuer shall use all reasonable endeavours to
appoint a leading bank or financial institution engaged in the interbank market (or, if appropriate, money,
swap or over-the-counter index options market) that is most closely connected with the calculation or
determination to be made by the Calculation Agent (acting through its principal London office or any
other office actively involved in such market) to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not
resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

Step Down Rating Change or Step Up Rating Change

(i) If Step Down Rating Change or Step Up Rating Change Event is specified hereon, the Rate of
Interest payable on the Notes will be the Initial Rate of Interest, subject to adjustment in
accordance with the Interest Ratchet (each such adjustment, a “Rate Adjustment”). Any Rate
Adjustment shall apply in respect of the Interest Period commencing on the Interest Payment
Date falling on or immediately following the date of the relevant Step Up Rating Change or Step
Down Rating Change, as the case may be, until either a further Rate Adjustment becomes
effective or the Maturity Date specified hereon, as the case may be.

(i)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition, there shall be no Rate Adjustment at any
time after notice of redemption has been given by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 6(c) or 6(d).

(iii)  There shall be no limit on the number of times that a Rate Adjustment may be made pursuant to
this Condition during the term of the Notes, provided always that at no time during the term of
the Notes will the rate of interest payable on the Notes be less than the Initial Rate of Interest or
more than the Initial Rate of Interest plus the Step Up Margin specified hereon.

(iv)  Inthe event of a Rate Adjustment, any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest
specified hereon shall (in the event of a Step Up Rating Change) be increased by the Step Up
Margin specified hereon or (in the event of a Step Down Rating Change) be restored to the
Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest specified hereon, as the case may be.
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(v)  The Issuer will cause the occurrence of an event giving rise to a Rate Adjustment pursuant to this
Condition to be notified to the Fiscal Agent and notice thereof to be given to Noteholders in
accordance with Condition 14 as soon as possible after the occurrence of the relevant event but
in no event later than the tenth business day thereafter.

In these Conditions:

“Initial Rate of Interest” means the initial Rate of Interest that is either specified hereon or calculated
in accordance with the provisions hereon;

“Interest Ratchet” means the following rates of interest:

(@  upon the occurrence of a Step Up Rating Change: the Initial Rate of Interest plus the Step Up
Margin specified hereon; and

(b)  upon the occurrence of a Step Down Rating Change: the Initial Rate of Interest;

“Investment Grade” means Baa3 (in the case of Moody’s Deutschland GmbH) or BBB- (in the case of
Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services France SAS) or the equivalent rating level of any other
Substitute Rating Agency or higher;

“Rating” means a rating of the Notes;

“Rating Agency” means Moody’s Deutschland GmbH or Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services
France SAS or any of their respective successors or any rating agency (a “Substitute Rating Agency”)
substituted for, or added to, any of them by the Issuer from time to time or any other rating agency
specified hereon;

“Step Down Rating Change” means the first public announcement after a Step Up Rating Change by
one or more Rating Agencies of an increase in the Rating with the result that none of the Rating Agencies
rate the Notes below Investment Grade (provided always that if less than two Rating Agencies maintain
a Rating at such time the Step Down Rating Change shall not occur until at least two Rating Agencies
have assigned or maintain an Investment Grade Rating); and

“Step Up Rating Change” means (i) the first public announcement by one or more Rating Agencies of
a decrease in the Rating to below Investment Grade or (ii) there ceasing to be a Rating assigned by at
least two Rating Agencies. For the avoidance of doubt, following a Step Up Rating Change, any further
decrease in the Rating by any Rating Agency or any further withdrawal of Rating shall not constitute a
further Step Up Rating Change.

Benchmark discontinuation

If a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to an Original Reference Rate when any Rate of Interest (or any
component thereof) remains to be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, then the
following provisions of this Condition 5(1) shall apply.

(i Independent Adviser

The Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint and consult with an Independent
Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, with a view to the Issuer determining a Successor
Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 5(1)(ii)) and, in either case,
an Adjustment Spread and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition 5(1)(iv)).

An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 5(1) shall act in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner as an expert and in consultation with the Issuer. In the absence
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(iii)

(iv)

of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the
Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, or the Noteholders for any advice given to the Issuer in
connection with any determination made by the Issuer, pursuant to this Condition 5(1).

If (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or (ii) the Issuer fails to determine a
Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate in accordance with this Condition 5(1) prior
to the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Rate of Interest applicable to the next succeeding
Interest Accrual Period shall be equal to the Rate of Interest last determined in relation to the
Notes in respect of the immediately preceding Interest Accrual Period. If there has not been a first
Interest Payment Date, the Rate of Interest shall be the initial Rate of Interest. Where a different
Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest is to be applied to the relevant Interest Accrual
Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Accrual Period, the Margin or
Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to the relevant Interest Accrual Period shall be
substituted in place of the Margin or Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest relating to that last
preceding Interest Accrual Period. For the avoidance of doubt, this paragraph shall apply to the
relevant next succeeding Interest Accrual Period only and any subsequent Interest Accrual
Periods are subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in the first
paragraph of, this Condition 5(1).

Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a
commercially reasonable manner, determines that:

A there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate and the applicable Adjustment
Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine
the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for all future payments of
interest on the Notes (subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 5(1)); or

B. there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative
Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread shall subsequently be used in place of the
Original Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component
part thereof) for all future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the subsequent
operation of this Condition 5(1)).

Adjustment Spread

The Adjustment Spread (or the formula or methodology for determining the Adjustment Spread)
shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread
is determined in accordance with this Condition 5(1) and the Issuer, following consultation with
the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner,
determines (i) that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement are necessary
to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or (in either case)
the applicable Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the “Benchmark Amendments”) and (ii)
the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof
in accordance with Condition 5(1)(v), without any requirement for the consent or approval of
Noteholders, vary these Conditions and/or the Agency Agreement to give effect to such
Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.
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(vi)

(vii)

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 5(1)(iv), the Issuer shall
comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or
admitted to trading.

Notices, etc.

Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any
Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 5(1) will be notified promptly by the
Issuer to the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with
Condition 14, the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective
date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any and will be binding on the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent,
the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and the Noteholders.

Survival of Original Reference Rate

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under Condition 5(1)(i) to (v) , the Original
Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 5(b) will continue to apply
unless and until a Benchmark Event has occurred.

Definitions
As used in this Condition 5(1):

“Adjustment Spread” means either (a) a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero) or (b)
a formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in each case to be applied to the Successor
Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology
which:

(M in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement
of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating
Body; or (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate)

(i) the Issuer determines, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in
good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, is customarily applied to the relevant
Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital
markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Original
Reference Rate; or (if the Issuer determines that no such spread is customarily applied)

(iii)  the Issuer determines, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in
good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, is recognised or acknowledged as being
the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions or is in customary
market usage in international debt capital markets transactions which reference the
Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the
Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

“Alternative Rate” means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Issuer, following
consultation with the Independent Adviser determines in accordance with Condition 5(1)(ii) is
customarily applied in the international debt capital markets transactions for the purposes of
determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) and in the same Specified
Currency as the Notes.

“Benchmark Amendments” has the meaning given to it in Condition 5(I)(iv).
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“Benchmark Event” means:

(1) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least 5 Business
Days or ceasing to exist; or

(2)  apublic statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it has ceased
or that it will cease to publish the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in
circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue
publication of the Original Reference Rate); or

(3) apublic statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate
that the Original Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely
discontinued; or

(4)  apublic statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate
as a consequence of which the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used
either generally, or in respect of the Notes; or

(5) it has become unlawful for any Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Issuer or other
party to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Original
Reference Rate;

provided that in the case of sub-paragraphs (2), (3) and (4), the Benchmark Event shall occur on
the date of the cessation of publication of the Original Reference Rate, the discontinuation of the
Original Reference Rate, or the prohibition of use of the Original Reference Rate, as the case may
be, and not the date of the relevant public statement.

“Independent Adviser” means an independent financial institution of international repute or an
independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer under Condition

5(1)(i).

“Original Reference Rate” means the originally-specified benchmark or screen rate (as
applicable) used to determine the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) on the Notes.

“Relevant Nominating Body” means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

(M the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable)
relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for
supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or

(i) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at
the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate
(as applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is
responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as
applicable), (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory
authorities or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof.

“Successor Rate” means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is
formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.
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Redemption, Purchase and Options

(@)

(b)

(©

Final Redemption

Unless previously redeemed, purchased and cancelled as provided below each Note shall be finally
redeemed on the Maturity Date specified hereon at its Final Redemption Amount (which shall, other
than in the case of a Zero Coupon Note, be its nominal amount).

Early Redemption
(i) Zero Coupon Notes

(A) The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon
redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(e) or
upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10 shall be the Amortised
Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note unless otherwise specified
hereon.

(B)  Subject to the provisions of sub-paragraph (C) below, the Amortised Face Amount of any
such Note shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity
Date discounted at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation
Yield (which, if none is shown hereon, shall be such rate as would produce an Amortised
Face Amount equal to the issue price of the Notes if they were discounted back to their
issue price on the Issue Date) compounded annually.

(C)  Ifthe Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any such Note upon its redemption
pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition 6(e) or upon it becoming due and
payable as provided in Condition 10 is not paid when due, the Early Redemption Amount
due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note
as defined in sub-paragraph (B) above, except that such sub-paragraph shall have effect
as though the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were the Relevant Date.
The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this sub-paragraph shall
continue to be made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date, unless the
Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and
payable shall be the scheduled Final Redemption Amount of such Note on the Maturity
Date together with any interest that may accrue in accordance with Condition 5(c).

Where such calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made on the
basis of the Day Count Fraction shown hereon.

(i)  Other Notes

The Early Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Note (other than Notes described in (i)
above), upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(c), Condition 6(d) or Condition
6(e) or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 10, shall be the Final
Redemption Amount unless otherwise specified hereon.

Redemption for Taxation Reasons

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, on any Interest Payment
Date (if this Note is a Floating Rate Note) or, at any time, (if this Note is not a Floating Rate Note) on
giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders (which notice shall be
irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above) (together with
interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption, if any), if (i) the Issuer (or, if the Guarantee were called,
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the Guarantor) has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in
Condition 8 or the Guarantee, as the case may be, as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the
laws or regulations of the relevant Tax Jurisdiction (as defined in Condition 8) or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or
official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or
after the date on which agreement is reached to issue the first Tranche of the Notes, and (ii) such
obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) taking reasonable
measures available to it, provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days
prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) would be obliged to
pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes (or the Guarantee, as the case may
be) then due. Before the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer
shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by two Directors of the Issuer (or the Guarantor, as
the case may be) stating that the Relevant Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a
statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Relevant Issuer so to redeem
have occurred, and an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the
Issuer (or the Guarantor, as the case may be) has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts
as a result of such change or amendment. Upon the expiry of any such notice as is referred to in this
Condition 6(c), the Issuer shall redeem the Notes in accordance with this Condition 6(c).

Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

(i) If Call Option is specified hereon, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60
days’ irrevocable notice to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified
hereon) redeem all or, if so provided, some, of the Notes on any Optional Redemption Date. Any
such redemption of Notes shall be at their Optional Redemption Amount specified hereon (which
may be the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)) together with
interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption. Any such redemption or exercise must relate to
Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum Redemption Amount to be redeemed
specified hereon and no greater than the Maximum Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified
hereon.

All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in
such notice in accordance with this Condition.

(i) If Make-Whole Amount is specified hereon as the Optional Redemption Amount, the Optional
Redemption Amount per Note shall be equal to the higher of the following, in each case together
with interest accrued to but excluding the relevant Optional Redemption Date:

(A)  the nominal amount of the Note; and

(B) the nominal amount of the Note multiplied by the price (as reported in writing to the Issuer
by a financial adviser (the “Financial Adviser”) appointed by the Issuer) expressed as a
percentage rounded to the next higher one ten-thousandth of a percentage point (0.0001
per cent.) at which the Gross Redemption Yield on the Notes on the Determination Date
is equal to the Gross Redemption Yield at the Quotation Time specified hereon on the
Determination Date specified hereon of the Reference Bond specified hereon (or, where
the Financial Adviser advises the Issuer that, for reasons of illiquidity or otherwise, such
Reference Bond is not appropriate for such purpose, such other government stock as such
Financial Adviser may recommend) plus any applicable Redemption Margin specified
hereon.
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Any such redemption or exercise must relate to Notes of a nominal amount at least equal to the Minimum
Redemption Amount to be redeemed specified hereon and no greater than the Maximum Redemption
Amount to be redeemed specified hereon.

(iii)  If Clean-Up Event is specified hereon and immediately prior to the giving of the notice referred
to below, a Clean-Up Event has occurred, then the Issuer may, subject to having given not fewer
than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Fiscal Agent and the Noteholders (which notice shall
be irrevocable), redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes at any time or, if the Note is a Floating
Rate Note, on any Interest Payment Date, at their Clean-Up Redemption Price specified hereon
(which may be the Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(b) above)) together
with interest accrued to the date fixed for redemption. Upon the expiry of such notice, the Issuer
shall redeem the Notes.

In the case of a partial redemption, the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the certificate numbers
of the Bearer Notes, or in the case of Registered Notes shall specify the nominal amount of Registered
Notes drawn and the holder(s) of such Registered Notes, to be redeemed, which shall have been drawn
in such place and in such manner as may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of
prevailing market practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and stock exchange or other
relevant authority requirements.

In this Condition:

“Clean-Up Event” shall be deemed to occur if the Issuer, the Guarantor and/or any of their Subsidiaries
has/have in the aggregate purchased or redeemed Notes in aggregate principal amount equal to or in
excess of 80 per cent. in the principal amount of the Notes initially issued (which shall for this purpose
include any further Notes issued pursuant to Condition 13);

“Determination Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Gross Redemption Yield” means a yield calculated in accordance with generally accepted market
practice at such time, as advised to the Issuer by the Financial Adviser;

“Quotation Time” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
“Redemption Margin” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms; and
“Reference Bond” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms.
Redemption at the Option of Noteholders

If Put Option is specified hereon, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any such Note, upon the
holder of such Note giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Issuer (or such other
notice period as may be specified hereon) redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date(s) at its
Optional Redemption Amount specified hereon (which may be the Early Redemption Amount (as
described in Condition 6(b) above)) together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for
redemption.

To exercise such option the holder must deposit (in the case of Bearer Notes) such Note (together with
all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons) with any Paying Agent or (in the case of Registered
Notes) the Certificate representing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent at its specified
office, together with a duly completed option exercise notice (“Exercise Notice”) in the form obtainable
from any Paying Agent, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (as applicable) within the notice period. No
Note or Certificate so deposited and option exercised may be withdrawn (except as provided in the
Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Relevant Issuer.
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Redemption Following Change of Control

If Change of Control Put is specified hereon and a Change of Control Put Event occurs, the holder of
each Note will have the option (a “Change of Control Put Option”) (unless prior to the giving of the
relevant Change of Control Put Event Notice (as defined below) the Issuer has given notice of
redemption under Condition 6(c) or Condition 6(d)) to require the Issuer to redeem or, at the Issuer’s
option, purchase (or procure the purchase of) that Note on the Change of Control Put Date (as defined
below) at the Change of Control Redemption Amount specified herein together with interest accrued to
(but excluding) the Change of Control Put Date.

A “Change of Control Put Event” will be deemed to occur if:

(i) any person or any persons acting in concert (as defined below) directly or indirectly acquire (A)
more than 50 per cent. of the issued share capital of LafargeHolcim Ltd or (B) shares in the capital
of LafargeHolcim Ltd carrying more than 50 per cent. of the total voting rights attributable to the
entire issued share capital of LafargeHolcim Ltd and which may be exercised at a general meeting
of LafargeHolcim Ltd (each such event being a “Change of Control”); and

(i) on the date (the “Relevant Announcement Date”) of the first public announcement of the
relevant Change of Control the Notes carry:

(A) an Investment Grade Rating from any Rating Agency and such Rating is, within the
Change of Control Period, either downgraded to a non-investment grade rating (Bal/BB+,
or equivalent, or worse) (a “Non-Investment Grade Rating”) or withdrawn and is not,
within the Change of Control Period, subsequently (in the case of a downgrade) upgraded
to an Investment Grade Rating by such Rating Agency; or

(B) a Non-Investment Grade Rating from any Rating Agency and such Rating is, within the
Change of Control Period, either downgraded by one or more rating categories (by way
of example, BB+ to BB being one rating category) or withdrawn and is not, within the
Change of Control Period, subsequently (in the case of a downgrade) upgraded to its
earlier Rating or better by such Rating Agency; or

(C) no Rating and a Negative Rating Event also occurs within the Change of Control Period,

provided that (X) if at the time of the occurrence of the Change of Control the Notes carry a
Rating from more than one Rating Agency, at least one of which is Investment Grade, then sub
paragraph (A) above will apply and (Y) no Change of Control Put Event will be deemed to occur
if at the time of the occurrence of the Change of Control the Notes carry a Rating from more than
one Rating Agency and less than all of such Rating Agencies downgrade or withdraw such Rating
as described in sub paragraphs (A) and (B) above; and

(iii)  in making any decision to downgrade or withdraw a Rating pursuant to sub paragraphs (A) and
(B) above or not to award a Rating of at least Investment Grade as described in paragraph (ii) of
the definition of Negative Rating Event, the relevant Rating Agency announces publicly or
confirms in writing to LafargeHolcim Ltd (or, if LafargeHolcim Ltd is not the issuer, the Issuer)
that such decision(s) resulted, in whole or predominantly, from the occurrence of the Change of
Control.

Promptly upon the Issuer becoming aware that a Change of Control Put Event has occurred, the Issuer
shall give notice (a “Change of Control Put Event Notice”) to the Noteholders in accordance with
Condition 14 specifying the nature of the Change of Control Put Event and the procedure for exercising
the Change of Control Put Option.
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To exercise the Change of Control Put Option, the holder of the Note must (in the case of Bearer Notes)
deliver such Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent or, (in the case of Registered Notes) deposit
the Certificate representing such Note(s) with the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, in each case at any
time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent, Registrar or Transfer Agent, as the case may
be, falling within the period (the “Change of Control Put Period”) of 30 days (or such other period as
may be specified hereon) after a Change of Control Put Event Notice is given, accompanied by a duly
signed and completed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from the
specified office of any Paying Agent (a “Change of Control Put Notice™). The Paying Agent, Registrar
or Transfer Agent, as the case may be, to which such Note or Certificate and Change of Control Put
Notice are delivered will issue to the Noteholder concerned a non-transferable receipt in respect of the
Note or Certificate so delivered. Payment in respect of any Note or Certificate so delivered will be made,
if the holder duly specified a bank account in the Change of Control Put Notice to which payment is to
be made, on the Change of Control Put Date by transfer to that bank account and, in every other case,
on or after the Change of Control Put Date against presentation and surrender or (as the case may be)
endorsement of such receipt at the specified office of any Paying Agent, Registrar or Transfer Agent, as
the case may be. A Change of Control Put Notice, once given, shall be irrevocable. For the purposes of
these Conditions, receipts issued pursuant to this Condition shall be treated as if they were Notes. The
Issuer shall redeem or purchase (or procure the purchase of) the relevant Notes on the Change of Control
Put Date unless previously redeemed (or purchased) and cancelled.

If two-thirds or more in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding have been redeemed or purchased
pursuant to this Condition, the Issuer may, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to
the Noteholders (such notice being given within 30 days after the Change of Control Put Date), redeem
or purchase (or procure the purchase of), at its option, all but not some only of the remaining outstanding
Notes at their Change of Control Redemption Amount, together with interest accrued to (but excluding)
the date fixed for such redemption or purchase.

If the rating designations employed by any Rating Agency are changed from those which are described
in the definition of “Investment Grade” in Condition 5(k) above or in paragraph (ii) of the definition of
“Change of Control Put Event” above, or if a Rating is procured from a Substitute Rating Agency, the
Issuer shall determine the rating designations of the relevant Rating Agency or such Substitute Rating
Agency (as appropriate) as are most equivalent to the prior rating designations of such Rating Agency
and this Condition shall be construed accordingly.

In this Condition:

“acting in concert” means acting together pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal
or informal);

“Change of Control Period” means the period commencing on the Relevant Announcement Date and
ending 90 days after the Relevant Announcement Date;

“Change of Control Put Date” shall be the date which is 14 days after the expiration of the Change of
Control Put Period; and

a “Negative Rating Event” shall be deemed to have occurred if at such time as there is no Rating
assigned to the Notes by a Rating Agency, (i) LafargeHolcim Ltd does not, either prior to, or not later
than 21 days after, the occurrence of the Change of Control seek, and thereafter throughout the Change
of Control Period use all reasonable endeavours to obtain, a Rating or a rating of any other unsecured
and unsubordinated debt of, or guaranteed by, LafargeHolcim Ltd or (ii) if LafargeHolcim Ltd does so
seek and use such endeavours, it is unable to obtain such a Rating or rating of at least Investment Grade
by the end of the Change of Control Period.
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Purchases

The Issuer, the Guarantor and any of their respective Subsidiaries (as defined in the Agency Agreement)
may at any time purchase Notes (provided that all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating
thereto are attached thereto or surrendered therewith) in the open market or otherwise at any price.

Cancellation

All Notes purchased by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries
may be surrendered for cancellation, in the case of Bearer Notes, by surrendering each such Note
together with all unmatured Coupons and all unexchanged Talons to the Fiscal Agent and, in the case of
Registered Notes, by surrendering the Certificate representing such Notes to the Registrar and, in each
case, if so surrendered, shall, together with all Notes redeemed by the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith
(together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered
therewith). Any Notes so surrendered for cancellation may not be reissued or resold and the obligations
of the Issuer and the Guarantor in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

7 Payments and Talons

(@)

(b)

(©

Bearer Notes

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall, subject as mentioned below, be made
against presentation and surrender of the relevant Notes (in the case of all other payments of principal
and, in the case of interest, as specified in Condition 7(f)(v)) or Coupons (in the case of interest, save as
specified in Condition 7(f)(v)), as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside
the United States, by transfer to an account denominated in such currency with, a Bank. “Bank” means
a bank in the principal financial centre for such currency or, in the case of Euro, in a city in which banks
have access to the TARGET System.

Registered Notes

(i) Payments of principal in respect of Registered Notes shall be made against presentation and
surrender of the relevant Certificates at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of
the Registrar and in the manner provided in paragraph (ii) below.

(i) Interest on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close of
business on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof (the “Record Date”).
Payments of interest on each Registered Note shall be made in the relevant currency by cheque
drawn on a Bank and mailed to the holder (or to the first-named of joint holders) of such Note at
its address appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the
Registrar or any Transfer Agent before the Record Date, such payment of interest may be made
by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a Bank.

Payments in the United States

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Bearer Notes are denominated in U.S. dollars, payments in respect
thereof may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner
as aforesaid if (i) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United
States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the
amounts on the Notes in the manner provided above when due, (ii) payment in full of such amounts at
all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on
payment or receipt of such amounts and (iii) such payment is then permitted by United States law,
without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, any adverse tax consequence to the Relevant Issuer.
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Payments Subject to Fiscal Laws

All payments are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place
of payment or other laws and regulations to which the Obligors agree to be subject and the Obligors will
not be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by such laws, regulations or
agreements, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8. No commission or expenses shall be
charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

Appointment of Agents

The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent
initially appointed by the Obligors and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Fiscal
Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent(s) act solely as
agents of the Obligors and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with
any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Obligors reserve the right at any time to vary or terminate the
appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or the
Calculation Agent(s) and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents, provided that
the Issuer and, in the case of Notes issued by Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance
Sarl. & Cie S.C.S., LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd or
LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V., the Guarantor shall at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal
Agent, (ii) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered
Notes, (iv) one or more Calculation Agent(s) where these Conditions so require, (v) Paying Agents
having specified offices in at least two major European cities, (vi) such other agents as may be required
by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed, and (vii) other than in the case of Swiss
Franc Notes, a paying agent in a jurisdiction within Europe other than Switzerland that will not be
required to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to laws enacted in Switzerland providing for the taxation of
payments according to principles similar to those laid down in the draft legislation of the Swiss Federal
Council of 17 December 2014, or otherwise changing the Swiss federal withholding tax system from an
issuer-based system to a paying agent based system pursuant to which a person other than the issuer is
required to withhold tax on any interest payments.

In addition, the Issuer and, in the case of Notes issued by Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim
US Finance S.ar.l. & Cie S.C.S., LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd
or LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance (Netherlands) B.V., the Guarantor shall forthwith appoint a Paying
Agent in New York City in respect of any Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances
described in paragraph (c) above.

In respect of Notes to be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, the Issuer and, in the case of Notes issued
by Holcim Finance (Luxembourg) S.A., Holcim US Finance S.a r.l. & Cie S.C.S., LafargeHolcim
Finance US LLC, LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd or LafargeHolcim Sterling Finance
(Netherlands) B.V., the Guarantor will at all times maintain a Paying Agent having a specified office in
Switzerland.

Notice of any change in any of the Paying Agents or any change of any specified office shall promptly
be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 and notice of any change in the Calculation
Agent or its specified office shall, for so long as the Notes are admitted to the Official List and admitted
to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and the rules of the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange so require, be given to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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Unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons

(i) Upon the due date for redemption of Bearer Notes which comprise Fixed Rate Notes, such Notes
should be surrendered for payment together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) relating thereto,
failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the
case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured
Coupon that the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) shall be deducted from
the Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount, Optional Redemption Amount,
Clean-Up Redemption Price or Change of Control Redemption Amount, as the case may be, due
for payment. Any amount so deducted shall be paid in the manner mentioned above against
surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date for the
payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition
9).

(i)  Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note comprising a Floating Rate Note,
unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no
payment shall be made in respect of them.

(iii)  Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such
Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of
such Talon.

(iv)  Where any Bearer Note that provides that the relative unmatured Coupons are to become void
upon the due date for redemption of those Notes is presented for redemption without all
unmatured Coupons, and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without any
unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provision of such
indemnity as the Relevant Issuer may require.

(v)  If the due date for redemption of any Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest
accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date,
as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of
the relevant Bearer Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be. Interest accrued on a
Note that only bears interest after its Maturity Date shall be payable on redemption of such Note
against presentation of the relevant Note or Certificate representing it, as the case may be.

Talons

On or after the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in
respect of any Bearer Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the
specified office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (and if necessary another
Talon for a further Coupon sheet) (but excluding any Coupons that may have become void pursuant to
Condition 9).

Non-Business Days

If any date for payment in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a business day, the holder shall not be
entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of
such postponed payment. In this paragraph, “business day” means a day (other than a Saturday or a
Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the relevant place of
presentation, in such jurisdictions as shall be specified as “Financial Centres” hereon and:

(i) (in the case of a payment in a currency other than Euro) where payment is to be made by transfer
to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant currency, on which foreign exchange

66



(i)

transactions may be carried on in the relevant currency in the principal financial centre of the
country of such currency; or

(i) (inthe case of a payment in Euro) which is a TARGET Business Day.
Payments for Swiss Franc Notes

The receipt by the Swiss principal paying agent of the due and punctual payment of funds in Swiss francs
in Switzerland shall release the Issuer from its obligations under the Swiss Franc Notes (and any
Coupons appertaining to them) for the payment of principal and interest to the extent of such payment.
Payment of principal and/or interest under Swiss Franc Notes (and any Coupons appertaining to them)
shall be payable in freely transferable Swiss francs without collection costs in Switzerland (at, in the
case of definitive Swiss Franc Notes, the specified offices located in Switzerland of the Swiss principal
paying agent upon their surrender) without any restrictions and whatever the circumstances may be,
irrespective of nationality, domicile or residence of the holders of the Swiss Franc Notes (and any
Coupons) and without requiring any certification, affidavit or the fulfilment of any other formality.

Taxation

All payments of principal and interest by or on behalf of the Relevant Issuer in respect of the Notes and the
Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties,
assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or
within or on behalf of the relevant Tax Jurisdiction or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax,
unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the Relevant Issuer shall pay such
additional amounts as shall result in receipt by the Noteholders and the Couponholders of such amounts as
would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such
additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Other connection

to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or
governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of its having some connection with
the relevant Tax Jurisdiction other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon; or

Lawful avoidance of withholding

to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who could lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such
deduction or withholding by complying or procuring that any third party complies with any statutory
requirements or by making or procuring that any third party makes a declaration of non-residence or
other similar claim for exemption to any tax authority in the place where the relevant Note (or the
Certificate representing it) or Coupon is presented for payment; or

Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date

presented (or in respect of which the Certificate representing it is presented) for payment more than
30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such
additional amounts on presenting it for payment on the 30th such day; or

Payment to Luxembourg individuals and proposed amendment to Swiss Federal Withholding Tax Act

where such withholding or deduction is (i) imposed on a payment to a Luxembourg resident individual
and is required to be made pursuant to the Luxembourg law of 23 December 2005, as amended; or (ii)
required to be made pursuant to laws enacted by Switzerland providing for the taxation of payments
according to principles similar to those laid down in the draft legislation of the Swiss Federal Council
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of 17 December 2014, or otherwise changing the Swiss federal withholding tax system from an issuer-
based system to a paying agent-based system pursuant to which a person other than the issuer is required
to withhold tax on any interest payments introduced in order to conform to, such agreements; or

(e)  LafargeHolcim Ltd and LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd as Issuer

where, in the case of LafargeHolcim Ltd or LafargeHolcim Helvetia Finance Ltd as Issuer, such
withholding or deduction is required by the Swiss Federal Withholding Tax Code of 13 October 1965
(Bundesgesetz tiber die Verrechnungssteuer vom 13. Oktober 1965); or

f U.S. withholding tax

where, in the case of LafargeHolcim Finance US LLC as Issuer, such withholding or deduction is
required:

(i) for or on account of any tax, duty, assessment or governmental charge that is imposed by reason
of (A) the holder’s or beneficial owner’s past or present status as the actual or constructive owner
of 10 per cent. or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Issuer
entitled to vote within the meaning of Section 871(h)(3) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code™), (B) the holder’s or beneficial owner’s past or present status as a
controlled foreign corporation that is related directly or indirectly to the Issuer through stock
ownership within the meaning of Section 86